
Clackamas Fire District #1 

Board Meeting 
Briefing Packet 

July 15, 2024 



Trust • Empowerment • Accountability • Mindset • Service 

CLACKAMAS FIRE DISTRICT
Here for you 

Board of Directors Meeting 
July 15, 2024 

Meeting Location: Hybrid: Station 5/Remote Video Conferencing 
5:00 pm 

AGENDA 

REGULAR SESSION 

I. CALL TO ORDER PER ORS 192.610 TO 192.690
ORS 192.650 – The meeting is being recorded. 

II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

III. CHANGES TO AGENDA

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING ON JUNE
17, 2024

V. PUBLIC COMMENT (The President will call for statements from citizens regarding

District business, not to exceed three minutes per person.)

VI. PRESENTATION – Strategic Business Plan – Assistant Chief Brian Stewart

VII. BUSINESS – Action required

B-1

B-2

VIII. OTHER BUSINESS – No action required

OB-1 Board Committee/Liaison Reports
Volunteer Association Liaison – Director Syring 

OB-2 Board Informational Updates/Comments 

Packet Pg. 1

Packet Pg. 3

Packet Pg. 20

Request Board Approval of Resolution 24-03 adopting the Clackamas Fire 
District Representation in the Updates to the Clackamas County Multi-
Jurisdiction Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan. – Assistant Chief Brian Stewart 

Request Board Approval for the Purchase of Firefighter Class D-Personnel 
Protective Equipment – Logistics Manager Denise Burkholder Packet Pg. 67

Packet Pg. 8



2 

IX. INFORMATIONAL ONLY
A. Division/Department Reports

R-1a   Office of the Fire Chief – Fire Chief Nick Browne

R-1b   Office of Strategic Services – Assistant Chief Brian Stewart

R-1c   Office of Business Services – Assistant Chief Steve Deters

R-1d   Office of Financial Services – Chief Financial Officer Mark Whitaker

R-1e   Office of Emergency Services – Assistant Chief Dan Mulick

R-1f   Professional Firefighters of Clackamas County Local 1159 – Vice President

Andrew Gordian

R-1g   Volunteer Association Report – Volunteer President Joe Johanesen

B. Correspondence

C. Informational Items

D. Next Meeting
The next Board of Directors’ meeting will be on Monday, August 19, 2024, at 5:00

pm. The meeting will be hybrid, with the public invited to attend either by remote

video conference or in person at Station 5 (9339 SE Causey Ave, Happy Valley, OR

97086).

Packet Pg. 2

Packet Pg. 69

Packet Pg. 71

Packet Pg. 75

Packet Pg. 79

X. REGULAR MEETING RECESSED

XI. EXECUTIVE SESSION CALLED TO ORDER UNDER 192.660(2)(a) TO
DISCUSS A PERSONNEL MATTER and ORS 192.660 (2)(d) LABOR
CONTRACT NEGOTIATIONS

XII. REGULAR MEETING RECONVENED

XIII. ADJOURNMENT



 

 

 

Trust • Empowerment • Accountability • Mindset • Service 

CLACKAMAS FIRE DISTRICT 

Here for you 

 
 

REGULAR BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING MINUTES 

JUNE 17, 2024 
 

ATTENDANCE 
Board of Directors: President Jim Syring, Vice President Chris Hawes, Secretary/Treasurer Jay 

Cross, Director Thomas Joseph, Director Marilyn Wall  

 

Others present: Nick Browne, Steve Deters, Andrew Gordian, Jason Hamilton, Shelby Hopkins, 

Rick Huffman, Dan Mulick, Brian Stewart, Mark Whitaker, Eric Wolke, Michael Wong 

 

Other community members and citizens were in attendance. The full video conferencing 

attendance can be provided upon request.  

 
I. CALL TO ORDER PER ORS 192.610 TO 192.690 

ORS 192.650 – The meeting is being recorded. 
President Jim Syring called the meeting to order at 5:01 p.m. 

 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

III. CHANGES TO AGENDA 
Chief Browne announced one change to the agenda. 

1. Under Division/Department Reports, Section R-1g, Volunteer Association, 

Treasurer Jason Hamilton will be reporting in Volunteer President Joe 

Johanesen’s absence. 

 

Timestamp: 01:33 – 01:58 

 

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING ON MAY 
20, 2024  
The minutes for the regular board meeting on May 20, 2024, were approved as written.  

 

  Timestamp: 01:58 – 02:53 

 

V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE BUDGET COMMITTEE MEETING ON 
MAY 16, 2024  
The minutes for the budget committee meeting on May 16, 2024, were approved as written. 

 

  Timestamp: 02:57 – 03:25 

 

VI. PUBLIC COMMENT (The President will call for statements from citizens regarding 

District business, not to exceed three minutes per person.) 
No comments. 

Packet Pg. 3



 

 2 

 
Timestamp: 03:25 – 03:31 

 
VII. BUDGET HEARING 
 

B-1  Request Board Approval of Resolution 24-01 – Adopting the Budget, Making 
Appropriations, and Levying Taxes for Fiscal 2024-25 - CFO Mark Whitaker 

 
President Syring asked for a motion for the Board to approve the adoption of the FY 2024-25 
budget as presented in Resolution #24-01. Director Hawes made the motion, and Director 
Joseph seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  
 

Timestamp: 03:31 – 05:03 
 

VIII. SUPPLEMENTAL BUDGET HEARING 
 

B-2  Request Board Approval of Resolution 24-02 – Adopting and Appropriating  
Supplemental Budget for Fiscal 2023-24 – Finance Manager Michael Wong 

 
President Syring asked for a motion for the Board to approve the FY 2023-24 supplemental 
budget as presented in Resolution #24-02. Director Wall made the motion, and Director Hawes 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  
 

Timestamp: 05:03 – 09:26 
 
IX. PRESENTATION – ANNUAL WORKERS’ COMPENSATION RENEWAL              

– Agent of Record Jeff Griffin from Wilson-Heirgood Associates   
Agent of Record Jeff Griffin from Wilson-Heirgood Associates gave a presentation on 

Workers’ Compensation.  
 

Timestamp: 09:26 – 30:06 
 

X. BUSINESS – Action required 
 

B-3 Request Board Approval of Workers’ Compensation Renewal –  
CFO Mark Whitaker 

 
President Syring asked for a motion for the Board to approve the worker’s compensation 
proposal and workers’ compensation policy.  Director Joseph made the motion, and Director 
Hawes seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  

 

Timestamp: 30:06 – 31:03 
 

B-4 Request Board Approval of Clackamas Emergency Services Foundation 
Revised Budget – Jerry Kearney 
Jerry Kearney gave a brief overview of the Emergency Services Foundation. 

Packet Pg. 4



 

 3 

 
President Syring asked for a motion for the Board to approve the Clackamas Emergency 
Services Foundations’ 2024 revised budget.  Director Hawes made the motion, and Director 
Joseph seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously.  
 

Timestamp: 31:03 – 40:45 
 

XI. OTHER BUSINESS – No action required   
 

OB-1 Board Committee/Liaison Reports 
Foundation Liaison – Director Cross 
No report.  

 
Interagency Committee – Director Joseph/Director Syring 
Director Joseph mentioned a meeting with Gladstone Fire. No details were given.   

 
Timestamp: 40:45 – 42:19 

 

OB-2 Board Informational Updates/Comments 
Director Hawes mentioned the Friends of Forgotten Veterans Memorial commencing on June 

1, 2024.  

 

Timestamp: 42:19 – 44:07 

  

XII. INFORMATIONAL ONLY 

A.  Division/Department Reports 
 
R-1a Office of the Fire Chief – Fire Chief Nick Browne 
Chief Browne shared an update from the Office of the Fire Chief.  

 

Timestamp: 44:07 – 50:08 
 

R-1b Office of Strategic Services – Assistant Chief Brian Stewart  
AC Stewart shared an update from the Office of Strategic Services.  

 

Timestamp: 50:08 – 55:53 

 

R-1c Office of Business Services – Assistant Chief Steve Deters 
AC Deters shared an update from the Office of Business Services.  

 

Timestamp: 55:53 – 59:14 

 

R-1d Office of Financial Services – Chief Financial Officer Mark Whitaker  
CFO Whitaker shared an update from the Office of Financial Services.  

 

Timestamp: 59:14 – 1:01:11 

Packet Pg. 5



 

 4 

 

R-1e Office of Emergency Services – Assistant Chief Dan Mulick 
AC Mulick shared an update from the Office of Emergency Services. 

 

Timestamp: 1:01:11 – 01:13:18 
 

R-1f Professional Firefighters of Clackamas County Local 1159 – Vice President 
Andrew Gordian 
VP Gordian shared an update from Local 1159. 

 
Timestamp: 1:13:18 – 1:15:43 

R-1g   Volunteer Association Report –Volunteer Treasurer Jason Hamilton 
In the absence of Volunteer President Joe Johanesen, Volunteer Treasurer Jason Hamilton 

shared an update from the Volunteer Association. 

 

Timestamp: 1:15:43 – 1:20:16 
 

B. Correspondence  
As noted. 

 
C. Informational Items  
None.  
 
Timestamp: 1:20:16 – 1:20:16 

 
D. Next Meeting 
The next Board of Directors’ meeting will be on Monday, July 15, at 5:00 pm. The 

meeting will be hybrid, with the public invited to attend either by remote video 

conference or in person at Station 5 (9339 SE Causey Ave, Happy Valley, OR 97086).  

 
Timestamp: 1:20:16 – 01:23:27 

 
XIII. REGULAR MEETING RECESSED 

The regular Board of Directors’ meeting recessed at 6:24 p.m.  

 

XIV. EXECUTIVE SESSION CALLED TO ORDER UNDER TO DISCUSS ORS 
192.660 (2)(d) LABOR CONTRACT NEGOTIATIONS 
The Executive Session was called to order at 6:35 p.m.  
 

The Executive Session adjourned at 7:45 p.m.  

 

XV. REGULAR MEETING RECONVENED 
The regular Board of Directors’ meeting reconvened at 7:48 p.m.  

 

Timestamp: 01:23:27 – 01:26:44 

 

Packet Pg. 6



 

 5 

XVI. POST EXECUTIVE SESSION BUSINESS – Action required 
 

B-5 Request Board Approval of Battalion Chief Collective Bargaining Agreement 
2024-2028 – CFO Whitaker 

 
President Syring asked for a motion for Board approval of the Battalion Chief Collective 
Bargaining Agreement for 2024-2028. Director Joseph made the motion, and Director Hawes 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 
 

Timestamp: 01:26:44 – 01:28:03 

 
XVII. ADJOURNMENT 
 

The regular Board of Directors’ meeting adjourned at 7:49 p.m. 
 
 
Minutes recorded by Executive Manager Shelby Hopkins and prepared by Administrative Technician 

Kelly Franzen.  

 

 

_________________________________   ___________________________________ 

President Jim Syring      Sec/Treasurer Jay Cross 
 
 

Packet Pg. 7



CLACKAMAS FIRE DISTRICT
Strategic Plan

2023-2026

Packet Pg. 8



Goal 1: 
  

Define and Improve Organizational Culture Business Services
Obj. 1.1 Implement changes and improvements based on the survey results to align the culture 

with the desired purpose, mission, and values.
Fire Chief 8/31/2023

This survey was completed in August 2023. The survey received 274 responses. Results of 
the survey were shared all members and discussed at the two-day All American Leadership 
workshop in September.

Obj. 1.2 Implement changes and improvements based on the survey results to align the culture 
with the

    

Fire Chief 1/31/2024

The survey results were used in several veins to align the district's culture with the desired 
purpose, mission, and values. 

Obj. 1.3 Establish diversity, equity, inclusion, and belonging training for all employees focusing 
on understanding biases, cultural sensitivity, and the benefits of a diverse workforce.

Human Capital 6/30/2024

Recruitment process developed. Moving to ongoing evaluation of process.

Obj. 1.4 Establish and solidify the onboarding process from new hire to Fire Chief Human Capital 6/20/2025
Process enhancements and updates have been made to onboarding processes. This work 

             
Obj. 1.5 Create a Culture Survey to annually spot check progression in improving organizational 

culture.
Human Capital 5/31/2024

Culture Survey has been created and implemented. Currently, the survey has been utilized 
on a quarterly basis. The frequency is being evaluated and may align with this objectives 
target after the first year.

Key Performance Indicator:
Achieve a 10% increase in employee satisfaction scores related to organizational culture 

Organizational Priority: Our People

Packet Pg. 9



Goal 2: Enhance Ethos & Alignment Fire Chief's Office
Obj. 2.1 Hold a 2-day Ethos Workshop for a cross-section of employees to redefine and reaffirm 

the
    

Fire Chief 9/30/2023

The two day workshop was held on September 6th and 7th. All district members were 
invited to attend and all those that replied to attend were accommodated.

Obj. 2.2 Ensure that all employees understand the revised ethos. Fire Chief 6/30/2024
The district has worked to ensure the ethos are communicated through various means and 
that members had and have ample opportunity for discussions about the ethos. The results 
of the workshop were presented to the board with All American Leadership and shared by 
the fire chief with all members of the organization. 

Key Performance Indicator:
Conduct a post-workshop survey to measure employee engagement and alignment, aiming 
for at least an 80% positive response rate.

Goal 3: Strengthen Supervisory & Leadership Development Business Services
Obj. 3.1 Establish a Professional Development Committee Human Capital 6/30/2025

HRO is in process of implementing the professional development committee. 

Obj. 3.2 Establish/Implement a Company/Chief Officer Boot Camp to provide specialized 
training and skill

       

Training 6/30/2025

Training and Human Capital are conferring on where there is distinction and alignment 
between line officers and managers in other divisions. Potential to combine Obj. 3.2 and 
Obj. 3.3 into one.

Packet Pg. 10



Obj. 3.3 Establish/Implement a Manager/Divisional Heads/C&G/Command Staff Development 
Program to equip those positions with leadership and managerial knowledge and skills.

Human Capital 6/30/2025

Training and Human Capital are conferring on where there is distinction and alignment 
between line officers and managers in other divisions. Potential to combine Obj. 3.2 and 
Obj. 3.3 into one.

Key Performance Indicator:
Within two years, have at least 80% of Company Officers, Chief Officers, Managers, Division
Heads, C&G, and Command Staff complete their respective development programs.

Packet Pg. 11



Goal 4: Improve Leadership Competency & Effectiveness Business Services
Obj. 4.1 Establish a process to provide ongoing leadership/positional training and mentorship 

for all levels
 

Human capital 6/30/2024

This work needs alignment with Obj. 3.2

Obj. 4.2 Establish leadership performance evaluations and feedback mechanisms to identify 
areas for improvement. e.g., Annual Evaluations

Human Capital 1/31/2024

New evaluation platform identified as a need. A platform has been selected and still needs 
to be implemented. 

Key Performance Indicator:
Increase the percentage of leaders who receive, for example, "exceeds expectations" or 
higher

         

Goal 5: Foster a Learning Culture Business Services
Obj. 5.1 Develop a learning and development roadmap to identify key skill gaps and training 

needs throughout the whole organization.
Committee Chair 6/30/2025

Obj. 5.2 Implement and fund continuous learning opportunities, such as workshops, webinars, 
and access to online courses.

Human Capital 6/30/2026

Training opportunities have been made available and the Training Division has reinstituted 
using training planners. These will allow the District to see the impact, interest, and funding 
gaps for continuous learning opportunities. 

Key Performance Indicator:
Achieve 95% of employees who participate in at least on professional development activity 
each

Packet Pg. 12



Goal 6: Measure the Impact of Professional Development Business Services
Obj. 6.1 Establish metrics to track the effectiveness of various professional development 

initiatives.
Human Capital 6/30/2024

The professional development initiatives are still being assessed and created. This objective 
is dependent on Goals 3, 4, and 5. 

Obj. 6.2 Regularly assess the impact of these initiatives on employee performance, 
engagement, and retention.

Human Capital 6/30/2024

The professional development initiatives are still being assessed and created. This objective 
is dependent on Goals 3, 4, and 5. 

Key Performance Indicator:
Maintain a yearly average employee retention rate of 97% or higher, indication that 
professional

       

Packet Pg. 13



Goal 1: Improve Firefighter Hiring Process & Post Testing Clearance Business Services
Obj. 1.1 Increase the number of qualified candidates applying for firefighter positions Business Services 7/1/2024

In the most recent recruitment, Clackamas Fire had the most number of applicants for 
firefighter as it had in over ten years. 

Obj. 1.2 Implement efficient and timely procedures for post-testing clearance Health and Safety 7/1/2024
The process has been evaluated and was determined to be highly efficient with internal 
resources and working with outside vendors. 

Obj. 1.3 Implement efficient and timely procedures for background checks Human Capital 7/1/2024
Additional evaluation of existing procedures for efficacy and opportunities for change to 
improve the background check content and process is needed prior to implementing any 
procedural changes. 

Key Performance Indicator:
Increase in the number of qualified candidates advancing through the application phase to 
the

   Reduction in the time taken to screen and shortlist candidates.

Goal 2: Improve Firefighter Hiring Process & Post Testing Clearance Business Services
Obj. 2.1 Develop a comprehensive recruitment strategy, including targeted outreach to diverse

communities.
Human Capital 6/30/2024

Recruitment process developed. The District still needs to develop the comprehensive 
strategy. Being extended until December 31, 2024.

Organizational Priority: Emergency Response

Packet Pg. 14



Obj. 2.2 Increase in the effectiveness of social media and website to promote the fire district as 
an attractive employer.

PIO 7/1/2024

The District increased postings to social media and its website. KPI data will be analyzed to 
determine the effectiveness.

Key Performance Indicator:
Increase in the number of qualified applicants from diverse backgrounds.
Growth in the social media following and engagement.
Higher website traffic and job application conversions.

Goal 3: Improve Firefighter Hiring Process & Post Testing Clearance Emergency Services
Obj. 3.1 Develop (12-month) comprehensive staffing plans for year 2, year 3, well in advance of 

implementation
Emergency Services 6/30/2024

Comprehensive staffing plan completed in FY24 for FY25 staffing enhancements. This 
objective is being marked complete for Year 2 and Objective 3.2 is being added to track Year 
3.

Obj. 3.2 Develop (12-month) comprehensive staffing plans for Year 3, well in advance of 
implementation

Emergency Services 6/30/2025

Working with Operations and Data. 

Key Performance Indicator:
Completion of yearly staffing plans at least 12 months ahead of implementation.
(Review plan annually) Successful coordination with the finance and support services 
divisions for

 

Packet Pg. 15



Goal 4: Ensure Adequate Logistics & Capital Items Emergency Services
Obj. 4.1 Plan, Assess and procure necessary PPE and uniforms for current and future staff Support Services March 31 

Logistics has completed a PPE and uniform assessment and established a procurement 
plan based on established vendor timelines.

Annually

Obj. 4.2 Secure funding and plan for the acquisition of new fire apparatus Support Services March 31 
Two Type 1 Engines ordered and Two Type 6 Engine (bodies to be installed on owned 
chassis) were ordered. 

Annually

Obj. 4.3 Plan for and secure funding for necessary fire station remodeling Strategic Services March 31 
Station 13 remodel complete. Station 12 remodel funded in FY25 budget. Annually

Obj. 4.4 Secure funding and acquisition of capital needs Support Services March 31 
Due to the complexity and expense of the SCBAs and radio replacement, these are being 
separated into Objectives 4.6 and 4.7.

Annually

Obj. 4.5 PLL apparatus setup Emergency Services 12/1/2023
This project is near completion and Emergency Services will ensure it is completed after fire 
season.

Obj. 4.6 Develop a long-term voice and data communications strategy. Strategic Services 6/30/2025
Informal information gathering competed. Identified the need for a workgroup to research, 
evaluate, and make recommendations for a voice and data strategy.

Obj. 4.7 Develop a plan and secure funding for SCBAs. Support Services 6/30/2025
Need for replacement plan identified - need to formalize process to develop SCBA 
deployment/replacement plan. 

Key Performance Indicator:
Completion of an inventory plan… inventory list and status update for all logistics items.
Completion of the fire apparatus acquisition.
Completion of remodeling projects within specified timelines.

Packet Pg. 16



Goal 5: Ensure Adequate Logistics & Capital Items Emergency Services
Obj. 5.1 Establish a process to certify EMT's at an accelerated rate to enhance and expand 

recruitment
    

Emergency Services

This objective is complete. The entry point into EMT classes has not declined like expected. 
Recruitment has brought in high number of EMT's. We have no need to for an EMT course for 
career staff, and those looking to get in the field have plenty of options ranging from in 
person, remote, and accelerated course. 

Obj. 5.2 Secure agreements with paramedic programs for current employees Emergency Services
The need for secured agreements has drastically declined since this objective was written. 
We have found that the process for our firefighters to enter paramedic school has very little 
limitations like we thought would exist last year. 

Obj. 5.3 Evaluate budget for potential funding of EMT and Paramedic training for new and 
current

Emergency Services

The District reviewed and found that the minimum percentage of paramedics that provides 
for efficient and effective staffing is lower than 68%. With budget priorities, the district will 
focus on hiring a paramedic heavy lateral AO academy to maintain a PM % around 65-68%.

Key Performance Indicator:
Have access to an accelerated EMT program for new hires.
Maintain 60-70% paramedics. Adjusted downward from 68-72% after data review. 

Goal 6: Maintain Relevant Data Points & Analytics for Staffing Decisions Strategic Services
Obj. 6.1 Continuously review and update data points and analytics used to determine staffing Strategic Services March 31 

The District has established a data workgroup which meets biweekly. This workgroup has 
been focused on data for existing challenges and is evaluating effective response force 
models.

Annually

Packet Pg. 17



Obj. 6.2 Ensure the data-driven approach aligns with the evolving needs of the community Strategic Services March 31 
This work is evolving with the addition of a beta-version of Darkhorse Emergency's 
community risk assessment tool. The data workgroup is learning the functions of the tool 
and evaluate how it may be used to align mitigation and response approaches with the 
evolving needs of the community. The District is hiring a community resilience officer who 
will focus part of their time on community engagement and risk data.

Annually

Key Performance Indicator:
Regularly review and update of data points and analytics based on community needs and 
Alignment of staffing decisions with data-driven analysis and community demands.

Goal 7 Maintain Relevant Data Points & Analytics for Staffing Decisions Emergency Services
Obj. 7.1 Run cards are aligned and validate for QRV's, Type 3's and Type 6's Emergency Services

Run cards are current for Type 3's and Type 6's. QRV run cards will be completed by 

Obj. 7.2 Develop unit typing matrix with local PSAPs Emergency Services
Unit typing is being evaluated and process may be modified with challenges found under 
Objective 7.3 process.

Obj. 7.3 Single digit renumber matrix to align with levy deployment changes Emergency Services
This project has been evaluated and single-digit renumbering is not practicable due to the 
complexities of the region. This project is being re-envisioned as to how to find 
improvements while accounting for factors impacting agencies across the counties/PSAPs.

Obj. 7.4 Fire Defense Board approval of unit typing matrix Emergency Services

Dependent on Obj. 7.2 being completed.

Key Performance Indicator:
Agency interface is universal among local PSAP's.

Packet Pg. 18



Goal 8 Enhance community outreach and engagement to effectively demonstrate the value 
and impact of the Emergency Services Levy

Business Services

Obj. 8.1 Increase Awareness and Understanding PIO March 31 
Ongoing. Activities have increased, but the District should determine a methodology(ies) for 
evaluating community member understanding.

Annually

Obj. 8.2 Review and Enhance Engage Stakeholders Business Services March 31 
Ongoing. Opportunity to enhance analytics of online and live engagements. Annually

Obj. 8.3 Enhance On-Line Presence PIO March 31 
Website revamp is underway with web developer. Annually

Obj. 8.4 Highlight Positive Outcomes Business Services March 31 
Annual report to be published in the fall. Banners for upcoming and already increased 
staffing posted at relevant stations.

Annually

Key Performance Indicator:
Increase Media Coverage achieved through collaboration with local media outlets.
Increase growth in our social media followers, likes, shares, and engagement rates.
Establish quarterly reports on website analytics, including page views, time spent and 
bounce
Increased community events and increased community members attendance.
Increase percentage of community members who are engaging the information on 
Emergency

           
Status Legend

Completed
In Progress/On track
Experiencing delay/Revision
Unable to complete
Not yet started
Removed or Replaced

Packet Pg. 19



Trust • Empowerment • Accountability • Mindset • Service 

 

 

            

Memo  
 

To Board of Directors 
From  Assistant Chief Brian Stewart on behalf of Fire Chief Nick Browne 
Date July 15, 2024 
Subject Request Board to Adopt NHMP Updates 2024 

 
 
 
Action Requested 
 
Requesting the Board of Directors pass a resolution Adopting the Clackamas Fire District representation in the 
Updates to the Clackamas County Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan (NHMP). 
 
Background 
 
As part of its regular five-year planning cycle, Clackamas County approached local jurisdictions in 2023 to update 
their addendum to the county’s natural hazard mitigation plan. A change at the federal level now requires that 
local jurisdictions adopt their addenda to meet this eligibility requirement for certain federal grants.  
 
In 2023 and 2024, over a series of meetings and communications, Clackamas Fire District worked with the 
Clackamas County and the University of Oregon to review and update its addendum.  District and university staff 
reviewed the county process and planned changes to its 2024 NHMP and reviewed and updated the Clackamas 
Fire District addendum. Updates to the Clackamas Fire District addendum include description of the district 
services, hazards, and action items. The addendum provides policy level recognition of the natural hazards faced 
by the District and action items to reduce the communities risk. Action item changes include: 
 

Removal of: 
SW #1 – Continue to ensure all rigs have chains for driving on snow and ice.  
District and university staff agreed that this action item is well integrated into Clackamas Fire District process 
and could be removed. 
 
Addition of: 
#10 - Work with partners to develop redundant 911 and civilian communication network.  
#11 - Sustain and expand Firewise adapted communities’ program.  

 
Board Policy Implications 
There are no board policy manual implications. 
 
 

CLACKAMAS FIRE DISTRICT #1 
Here for you 

 

Packet Pg. 20



 
 
 
 

Trust • Empowerment • Accountability • Mindset • Service 

Budget Implications 
By adopting the updates to the NHMP addendum, the District meets one eligibility requirement to apply for 
certain Federal grants.  
 
Enclosures: 
FEMA Letter RE: Adoption Required to Finish Clackamas County Multi-jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan 

Process (dated June 11, 2024) 
Clackamas Fire District Addendum to the Clackamas County Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan  

Packet Pg. 21



 

P 

Ity of Estacada  Clackamas Fire District Addendum 
to the Clackamas County Multi-Jurisdictional  

 Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan 

 
 

Prepared for 
Clackamas Fire District 
 
 

Photo Credit: Clackamas Fire District 

Updated: 
Date, 2024, (Resolution # 2024-xx) 
September 16, 2019, (Resolution # 2020-02) 
 

Effective: April XX, 2024 – April XX, 2029 

Packet Pg. 22



 

This material is a result of tax-supported research and, as such, is not copyrightable. 
It may be freely reprinted with the customary crediting of the source. 

This Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan was prepared by: 

 

 

 

 

Planning grant funding provided by: 

 

Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) 

Project Award Number: DR-4562-39-P-OR 

 

Additional Support Provided by: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Packet Pg. 23



 

Table of Contents 
PURPOSE .............................................................................................................................................................. 1 
MITIGATION PLAN MISSION ..................................................................................................................................... 1 
MITIGATION PLAN GOALS ........................................................................................................................................ 1 
NHMP PROCESS, PARTICIPATION AND ADOPTION ....................................................................................................... 3 

Convener ....................................................................................................................................................... 3 
NHMP IMPLEMENTATION AND MAINTENANCE ........................................................................................................... 4 

Implementation through Existing Programs ................................................................................................. 4 
Capability Assessment .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Existing Authorities .................................................................................................................................................... 5 
Programs & Projects ................................................................................................................................................... 6 
Personnel ................................................................................................................................................................... 8 
Findings ...................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

MITIGATION STRATEGY ......................................................................................................................................... 11 
Action Items ............................................................................................................................................................. 11 

RISK ASSESSMENT ................................................................................................................................................ 14 
Hazard Analysis ........................................................................................................................................... 14 
Community Characteristics ......................................................................................................................... 15 
Community Assets ....................................................................................................................................... 17 
Hazard Characteristics ................................................................................................................................ 18 

Drought .................................................................................................................................................................... 18 
Earthquake (Cascadia Subduction Zone) .................................................................................................................. 19 
Earthquake (Crustal) ................................................................................................................................................. 20 
Flood......................................................................................................................................................................... 25 
Landslide .................................................................................................................................................................. 27 
Severe Weather ........................................................................................................................................................ 28 
     Extreme Heat ...................................................................................................................................................... 28 
     Windstorm .......................................................................................................................................................... 29 
     Winter Storm (Snow/Ice) .................................................................................................................................... 30 
Volcanic Event .......................................................................................................................................................... 31 
Wildfire ..................................................................................................................................................................... 31 

ATTACHMENT A: ACTION ITEM CHANGES ..................................................................................................... 35 

ATTACHMENT B: PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT SUMMARY .................................................................................... 36 

 
 

  

Packet Pg. 24



 

List of Tables 
TABLE CFD-1 ACTION ITEMS .................................................................................................................................. 12 
TABLE CFD-2 HAZARD ANALYSIS MATRIX – CLACKAMAS FIRE DISTRICT ......................................................................... 15 
TABLE CFD-5 CRITICAL FACILITIES IN CLACKAMAS FIRE DISTRICT ................................................................................... 17 
TABLE CFD-7 RAPID VISUAL SURVEY SCORES ............................................................................................................ 22 
TABLE CFD-5 STATUS OF ALL HAZARD MITIGATION ACTIONS IN THE PREVIOUS PLAN ....................................................... 35 

 

List of Figures 
FIGURE CFD-1 CLACKAMAS FIRE DISTRICT SERVICE AREA MAP .................................................................................... 10 
FIGURE CFD-2 UNDERSTANDING RISK ..................................................................................................................... 14 
FIGURE CFD-3 CASCADIA SUBDUCTION ZONE EXPECTED SHAKING ................................................................................ 20 
FIGURE CFD-4 ACTIVE CRUSTAL FAULTS, EPICENTERS (2005-2023), AND SOFT SOILS ..................................................... 21 
FIGURE CFD-5 SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA ........................................................................................................... 26 
FIGURE CFD-6 LANDSLIDE SUSCEPTIBILITY EXPOSURE ................................................................................................. 27 
FIGURE CFD-7 WILDFIRE RISK ................................................................................................................................ 33 

 

 

Packet Pg. 25



Packet Pg. 26



Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 1 

Purpose 
This is an update of the Clackamas Fire District (CFD, Fire District) addendum to the Clackamas County 
Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan (NHMP). This addendum supplements information 
contained in Volume I (Basic Plan) which serves as the NHMP foundation and Volume III (Appendices) 
which provide additional information. This addendum meets the following requirements:  

• Multi-Jurisdictional Plan Adoption §201.6(c)(5),  
• Multi-Jurisdictional Participation §201.6(a)(3),  
• Multi-Jurisdictional Mitigation Strategy §201.6(c)(3)(iv) and  
• Multi-Jurisdictional Risk Assessment §201.6(c)(2)(iii). 

Clackamas Fire District adopted their addendum to the Clackamas County Multi-jurisdictional NHMP on 
[DATE TBD, 2024]. FEMA Region X approved the Clackamas County NHMP on [DATE TBD, 2024] and the 
Fire District’s addendum on [DATE TBD, 2024]. With approval of this NHMP the Fire District is now 
eligible to apply for the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act’s hazard 
mitigation project grants through [DATE TBD-1, 2029]. 

Mitigation Plan Mission 
The 2024 HMAC reviewed the previous NHMP Mission and Goals in comparison to the State NHMP 
Goals and determined that they would make necessary updates to include references to community 
lifelines and to advance equity and inclusion in hazard mitigation. 

The NHMP mission states the purpose and defines the primary functions of the NHMP. It is intended to 
be adaptable to any future changes made to the NHMP and need not change unless the community’s 
environment or priorities change.  

The mission of the NHMP is to: 

Enhance county resiliency and capacity to address natural hazards by promoting sound public policy 
and effective mitigation strategies designed to equitably reduce risk and impacts on community 
members, community lifelines, historic and cultural resources property, and ecological systems. 

This can be achieved by increasing public awareness, documenting the resources for risk reduction and 
loss-prevention, and identifying activities to guide the county towards building a safer, more sustainable 
community. 

Mitigation Plan Goals 
Mitigation plan goals are more specific statements of direction that Clackamas County citizens, and 
public, and private partners can take while working to reduce the Fire District’s risk from natural 
hazards. These statements of direction form a bridge between the broad mission statement, and serve 
as checkpoints, as agencies, and organizations begin implementing mitigation action items. 

Packet Pg. 27



Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 2 

Meetings with the HMAC, previous hazard event reports, and the previous NHMPs served as methods to 
obtain input and identify priorities in developing goals for reducing risk and preventing loss from natural 
hazards. 

The Fire District concurs with the goals developed during the Clackamas County planning process 
(Volume I, Section 3). All NHMP goals are important and are listed below in no order of priority. 
Establishing community priorities within action items neither negates nor eliminates any goals, but it 
establishes which action items to consider implementing first, should funding become available.  

Below is a list of the NHMP goals: 

GOAL #1: PROTECT LIFE AND PROPERTY 

• Develop and implement mitigation and climate adaptation projects and policies that aid in 
protecting lives by making homes, businesses, community lifelines, and other property more 
resilient to natural hazards and impacts from climate change. 

• Establish mitigation projects and policies that minimize losses and repetitive damages from 
recurring disasters while promoting insurance coverage for severe hazards. 

• Improve hazard identification and risk assessment information to inform and provide 
recommendations for enhanced resilience in new development decisions and promote 
preventative measures for existing development in areas vulnerable to natural hazards. 

GOAL #2: ENHANCE NATURAL SYSTEMS 

• Incorporate natural hazard mitigation planning and activities into watershed planning, natural 
resource management, natural systems enhancement, and land use planning to protect life, 
property, and ecological system. 

GOAL #3: AUGMENT EMERGENCY SERVICES 

• Strengthen emergency operations by enhancing communication, collaboration, and 
coordination of natural hazard mitigation activities and policies across agencies at all levels and 
regions of government, sovereign tribal nations, and the private sector. 

GOAL #4: ENCOURAGE PARTNERSHIPS FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

• Improve communication, coordination, and participation among and with public agencies, 
community members, community lifelines, and private sector organizations to prioritize and 
implement hazard mitigation activities and policies. 

• Enhance efforts toward identifying and optimizing opportunities across state agencies, 
surrounding communities, and private entities for resource sharing, mutual aid, and funding 
sources/support. 

GOAL #5: PROMOTE PUBLIC AWARENESS 

• Build community resilience and awareness and reduce the effects of natural hazards and climate 
change through community-wide engagement, collaboration, resource-sharing, learning, 
leadership-building, and identifying mitigation project-related funding opportunities. 

  

Packet Pg. 28



Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 3 

GOAL #6: ADVANCE EQUITY AND INCLUSION 

• Mitigate the inequitable impacts of natural hazards by prioritizing the directing of resources and 
efforts to build resilience and engagement in the most vulnerable communities least able to 
prepare, respond, and recover. 

• Strengthen efforts aimed at increasing engagement, outreach, and collaboration with 
community and cultural organizations and agencies that are dedicated to providing services and 
support to vulnerable and underserved communities. 

NHMP Process, Participation and Adoption 
This section of the NHMP addendum addresses 44 CFR 201.6(c)(5), Plan Adoption and 44 CFR 
201.6(a)(3), Participation.  

This Clackamas Fire District addendum was added to the Clackamas County NHMP in 2019. In addition 
to establishing a comprehensive community-level mitigation strategy, the Disaster Mitigation Act of 
2000 (DMA2K), and the regulations contained in 44 CFR 201, require that jurisdictions maintain an 
approved NHMP to receive federal funds for mitigation projects. Local adoption, and federal approval of 
this NHMP ensures that the Fire District will remain eligible for pre- and post-disaster mitigation 
planning and project grants. 

The Oregon Partnership for Disaster Resilience (OPDR) at the University of Oregon’s Institute for Policy 
Research and Engagement (IPRE) collaborated with the Oregon Department of Emergency Management 
(OEM), Clackamas County, and the Fire District to update their NHMP. 

The Clackamas County NHMP and Clackamas Fire District addendum are the result of a collaborative 
effort between citizens, public agencies, non-profit organizations, the private sector, and regional 
organizations. The Clackamas Fire District HMAC guided the process of developing their NHMP 
addendum.  

Convener 
Clackamas Fire District’s Assistant Chief of Strategic Operations served as the designated convener of 
the NHMP development and will take the lead in implementing, maintaining, and updating the 
addendum to the Clackamas County NHMP in collaboration with the designated convener of the 
Clackamas County NHMP (Clackamas County Resilience Coordinator). 

Representatives from the Clackamas Fire District HMAC met formally and informally, to discuss updates 
to their addendum (Volume III, Appendix B). This addendum reflects decisions made at the designated 
meetings and during subsequent work and communication between the Fire District’s convener and 
OPDR. 

The Clackamas Fire District HMAC was comprised of the following representatives: 

• Convener, Brian Stewart, Assistant Chief 
• Phil Schneider, Division Chief 
• Brent Olson, Division Chief 
• Shawn Olson, Battalion Chief 

The HMAC served as the local review body for the NHMP’s update.  

Packet Pg. 29



Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 4 

NHMP Implementation and Maintenance 
The CFD Board of Directors will be responsible for adopting the Clackamas Fire District addendum to the 
Clackamas County NHMP. This addendum designates the HMAC, and a convener to oversee the 
development, and implementation of action items. Because the Fire District addendum is part of the 
County’s multi-jurisdictional NHMP, the Fire District will look for opportunities to partner with the 
County. The Fire District’s HMAC will convene after re-adoption of the Clackamas Fire District NHMP 
addendum on an annual schedule. The County is meeting on a semi-annual basis and will provide 
opportunities for the cities and Fire District to report on NHMP implementation, and maintenance 
during their meetings. The CFD Emergency Manager will serve as the convener and will be responsible 
for assembling the HMAC. The HMAC will be responsible for: 

• Reviewing existing action items to determine suitability of funding;  
• Reviewing existing, and new risk assessment data to identify issues that may not have been 

identified at NHMP creation;  
• Educating, and training new HMAC members on the NHMP, and mitigation actions in general; 
• Assisting in the development of funding proposals for priority action items; 
• Discussing methods for continued public involvement; 
• Evaluating effectiveness of the NHMP at achieving its purpose and goals (use Table 26, Volume I, 

Section 4, as one tool to help measure effectiveness); and 
• Documenting successes and lessons learned during the year. 

The jurisdiction will utilize the same implementation and maintenance process identified in Volume I, 
Section 4. 

The jurisdiction will provide continued public participation during the plan maintenance process through 
periodic presentations to elected officials, public meetings, postings on social media, and/or through 
interactive content on the jurisdiction’s website (for more information see Volume I, Section 4). 

The jurisdiction will utilize the same action item prioritization process as the County (for more 
information see Volume I, Section 4 and Volume III, Appendix E). 

Implementation through Existing Programs  
This NHMP is strategic and non-regulatory in nature, meaning that it does not necessarily set forth any 
new policy. It does, however, provide: (1) a foundation for coordination and collaboration among 
agencies and the public in the Fire District; (2) identification and prioritization of future mitigation 
activities; and (3) aid in meeting federal planning requirements and qualifying for assistance programs. 
The mitigation plan works in conjunction with other Fire District plans and programs including their 
Strategic Plan and the Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection Plan as well as the Clackamas 
County NHMP, and the State of Oregon NHMP.  

The mitigation actions described herein (and in Attachment A) are intended to be implemented through 
existing plans and programs within the Fire District. Plans and policies already in existence have support 
from district residents, businesses, and policy makers. Where possible, Clackamas Fire District will 
implement the NHMP’s recommended actions through existing plans and policies. Many land-use and 
strategic plans get updated regularly, allowing them to adapt to changing conditions and needs. 
Implementing the NHMP’s action items through such plans and policies increases their likelihood of 
being supported and implemented. Implementation opportunities are further defined in action items 
when applicable.  

Packet Pg. 30

http://www.clackamasfire.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/2019-Strategic-Business-Plan.pdf.
https://www.clackamas.us/dm/ccwpp.html
https://www.clackamas.us/dm/naturalhazard.html
https://www.clackamas.us/dm/naturalhazard.html
https://www.oregon.gov/lcd/NH/Pages/Mitigation-Planning.aspx


Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 5 

Future development without proper planning may result in worsening problems associated with natural 
hazards. In addition, Metro, the regional government for Clackamas, Multnomah, and Washington 
counties, determines many land use laws for the tri-county region and sets the urban growth boundary. 
The entire Portland Metro area is subject to tremendous growth pressures due to its desirable location 
and the restrictions on urban sprawl placed by urban growth boundary requirements.  

Clackamas Fire District currently has the following plans that relate to natural hazard mitigation: 
Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection Plan: Clackamas Fire District (CFD) and Strategic Plan. 
For a complete list visit the Fire District’s website. 

Capability Assessment 
The Capability Assessment identifies and describes the ability of Clackamas Fire District to implement 
the mitigation strategy and associated action items. Capabilities can be evaluated through an 
examination of broad categories, including: existing authorities, policies, programs, funding, and 
resources. As applicable the 2019 NHMP was integrated into these authorities/documents over the last 
five years (e.g., structural building codes, stormwater master plan update, etc.).   

Existing Authorities 
Hazard mitigation can be executed at a local scale through three (3) methods: integrating hazard 
mitigation actions into other planning documents (i.e., plan integration), adopting engineering standards 
and regulations that account for best practices in structural hardening, and incorporating mitigation into 
system maintenance and enhancement. The extent to which a district or multi-jurisdictional effort 
leverages these approaches is an indicator of that community’s or organization’s capabilities. 

Strategic Planning 
Existing policies that define service provision and address hazardous conditions provide a source of 
mitigation capability.  

Comprehensive Planning in Clackamas County takes place at the County level and relevant information 
is included in the County NHMP (Volume 1).  

Clackamas Fire District #1 is one of the largest fire protection districts in Oregon, serving nearly 220,000 
permanent residents and covering nearly 228 square miles. 300 career firefighters and administrative 
personnel, with a cadre of volunteer firefighters, respond to tens of thousands of incidents annually 
from 22 strategically located fire stations. The district has grown since the adoption of the last NHMP 
through the opening of the Damascus Station in April 2019. The fire district has an intergovernmental 
agreement with the City of Sandy for the joint operation of Station 18 and has entered into a new 
intergovernmental agreement with the City of Gladstone to operate their fire station and provide fire 
protection services. 

In order to ensure that Clackamas Fire District #1 provides the resources that are required to respond to 
the current and future service demands, a Standards of Cover (SOC) document is maintained. 

The CFD Board of Directors has adopted a Strategic Plan for 2023-2026 that are used to determine 
organizational priorities. These strategic goals reinforce the importance of resilience and hazard 
mitigation planning. The adopted Strategic Goals include goals, objectives, and key performance 
indicators for two organizational priorities: Our People and Emergency Response. The 2018 NHMP goals 
were incorporated into this Strategic Plan, including securing funding for fire station remodeling, public 
outreach and education, and communication system improvements. 

Packet Pg. 31

https://www.clackamas.us/dm/ccwpp.html
https://dochub.clackamas.us/documents/drupal/2f2cb07d-ef5f-4fff-9614-a23f3f0bfce7
http://www.clackamasfire.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/2019-Strategic-Business-Plan.pdf.
http://www.clackamasfire.com/
https://clackamasfire.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/Strategic-Plan-2023-2026.pdf


Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 6 

Structural Building Codes 
The Oregon Legislature recently adopted updated building codes for both residential (2023 adoption) 
and commercial structures (2022) since the last update of this Plan. These building codes are based on 
the 2021 version of the International Building Code, International Fire Code, and International Existing 
Building Code. CFD falls under Clackamas County’s Building Codes. 

Capital Improvement Planning & Budgeting 
The CFD Board of Directors has the responsibility of developing and adopting the annual budget. 
Integrating hazard mitigation goals and projects into the annual budget in the future will be key to 
implementing the NHMP.  

Unlike other large fire agencies, Clackamas Fire has historically operated without an emergency services 
optional levy to fund firefighter positions and equipment. To make strategic and long-term investments 
in equipment and staffing, Clackamas Fire formed Future Funding Taskforce, which ultimately 
recommended that the district consider an enhanced services levy. Clackamas Fire hosted community 
engagement events in 2022 and 2023 during the levy development process. After evaluating community 
and district needs, district leadership finalized the levy elements, and the Board of Directors referred a 
levy to the May 2023 ballot.  

The enhanced services levy provides new financial resources to the district to fund enhanced firefighter 
staffing and equipment. The levy will allow Clackamas Fire to:  

• Hire 62 additional firefighters;  
• Enable increased staffing across most fire stations;  
• Provide 24/7 career staffing at two rural fire stations (Logan and Clarkes) that are critical to 

wildfire and emergency response;  
• Supply quick response vehicles to improve response efficiency in high-volume service areas;  
• Invest in equipment and operational costs connected to emergency and wildfire mitigation, 

prevention, and response. 

The FY 2023-24 budget began implementation of the levy funding by establishing 24 new firefighter 
positions and investing in equipment and apparatus to support the mission. FY 2023-24 was also the first 
year of Clackamas Fire’s full contract for service with Sandy Fire District. 

Programs & Projects 
This Plan directs CFD and Clackamas County to explore integration into other planning documents and 
processes. CFD has made significant progress in integrating the resilience efforts into its portfolio of 
planning programs and projects over the last five years. 

Fire District Expansion 
In the last decade, the Fire District has experienced rapid population and construction growth rates. 
Those rates are expected to increase as buildable residential property and suitable industrial land 
continue to be developed. The Fire District must plan for additional increases as the more suburban and 
rural areas are urbanized and the population centers become more densely populated through infill and 
increased regional planning efforts. 

Over the last five years, the District has worked hard to expand its capacity. The District graduated 24 
new community volunteers in 2020 to help support operations and held an additional academy for 
community volunteers in the fall of 2021.  The Wildland Fuels Mitigation crew “Crew 30” was a new 
crew added in the FY2020-21 after the Fire District received Worksource grant funding. The grant funds 
up to 22 positions specifically geared towards training and employing persons to repair the effects from 

Packet Pg. 32



Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 7 

the 2020 wildfires in Clackamas County. In addition, these persons were trained and outfitted to be able 
to respond to wildfires as a suppression resource throughout the state on a contracted basis. 

The following is a timeline displaying major events (through 2022) in the history of Clackamas Fire 
District #11: 

 

 

1 Clackamas Fire District, Annual Budget 2021-2022. 

Packet Pg. 33

https://clackamasfire.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/FY21-22-Adopted-Budget.pdf


Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 8 

Public Awareness Campaigns 
CFD encourages residents to develop personal Wildfire Action Plans. This campaign encourages 
residents to take personal responsibility to be prepared for wildfire evacuation. During High Fire Danger 
days, residents are encouraged to monitor media for information on wildfire and be ready to implement 
their personal plan.  

CFD maintains an active website with community resources on Wildfire and structural fire prevention. 
The website includes Ready, Set, Go! Information and Essential Supplies checklists for evacuation. The 
Siren Newsletter is a digital repository that chronicles the latest updates, events, and achievements of 
the district and “reflects the unwavering commitment of our team to ensuring the safety and well-being 
of our residents.” 

In 2023-2024, CRW is planning on hiring a full time Public Outreach/Communication employee to 
enhance abilities to meet the information needs of stakeholders. 

Community Wildfire Protection Plan 

The Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) will be incorporated into this Plan as 
a functioning annex and into the District’s capital improvement planning. The CWPP is expected to be 
adopted in 2024. 

Personnel 
Clackamas Fire District is governed by a Board of Directors. The Board of Directors consists of five 
members elected to staggered four-year terms by voters within the CFD Service Area (Figure CFD-1). The 
Board of Directors is responsible for identifying problems and opportunities within the Fire District and 
then addressing those issues through policy. The Board of Directors, in turn hire a fire chief, who serves 
as the administrative head of the Fire District.  

The following divisions within the fire district have a role in natural hazards mitigation:  

The Office of Business Services is comprised of support departments including Fire Prevention and the 
Fire Marshal’s Office, Community Services, and Human Resources. The division provides support to 
other divisions and provides public education and community involvement regarding fire prevention and 
medical aid. 

The Office of Emergency Services includes departments responsible for emergency response, fire 
suppression, and related function. It includes highly skilled and cross trained firefighter/paramedics and 
firefighters (EMTs) that respond to medical emergency alarms. The office operates from 24 fire stations 
and has approximately 300 career and volunteer firefighters.  

The Office of Financial Services is responsible for strategic financial planning, financial reporting, and 
accounting. Tasks of the office include financial forecasting and planning, budget development and 
administration, financial reporting, general accounting, payroll, and debt management. This office also 
includes Fleet and Logistics. The Fleet Division is responsible for maintaining the fleet of fire and 
emergency apparatus and staff vehicles. The division also maintains and repairs apparatus and vehicles 
from the Canby and Gladstone fire departments through intergovernmental agreements. 

The Office of Strategic Services is comprised of support and planning functions including Technology 
Services, GIS Services, sUAS Operations, Planning, and Facilities. This office provides support for internal 
planning, community and district assessment, and operations.  

Packet Pg. 34

https://clackamasfire.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Wildfire-Action-Plan.pdf
https://clackamasfire.com/newletters/


Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 9 

These personnel integrate hazards and resilience planning into their greater work programs to the best 
of their abilities. There is limited capacity to expand upon their capabilities or workloads.  

Findings 
Several important findings from this capability assessment informed the design of the Plan’s mitigation 
strategy and aided in prioritizing action items.  

Staffing Limitations and Capacity 

CFD staff are assigned hazard mitigation responsibilities as a part of their larger job responsibilities. 
Restricted capacity reduces the breadth of the programming the agency can undertake in any year. CFD 
relies upon its relationships with Clackamas County and other cities and fire districts within its region 
and on community volunteers to expand its operations. 

Reliance upon outside funding streams  

CFD operates on a limited budget with many conflicting priorities. Additionally, there are restrictions on 
many revenue sources in relation to where the funds may be spent. Grants and loans can provide 
revenue sources for large resilience projects that cannot be covered by levies and tax revenue, etc. 

Multi-document transparency 

CFD works to ensure all its capital plans are integrated into one master Capital Improvement budget. 
Integration of the goals of this budget with the goals and assessment of the NHMP will further the 
development of resilience measures within the agency’s work program.  

Packet Pg. 35



Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 10 

Figure CFD-1 Clackamas Fire District Service Area Map 

Source: 
Clackamas Fire District 

  

Packet Pg. 36

https://clackamasfire.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/CFD_Service-Area_June-2023.pdf


Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 11 

Mitigation Strategy 
This section of the NHMP addendum addresses 44 CFR 201.6(c)(3(iv), Mitigation Strategy.  

The Fire District’s mitigation strategy (action items) were first developed during the 2019 NHMP 
planning process and revised during the subsequent NHMP update. During these processes, the HMAC 
assessed the Fire District’s risk, identified potential issues, and developed a mitigation strategy (action 
items).  

During the 2023 update process, the City re-evaluated their mitigation strategy (action items). During 
this process action items were updated, noting if the action is complete, not complete and whether the 
actions were still relevant; any new action items were identified at this time (see Attachment B for more 
information on changes to action items).  

Action Items 
Table CFD-1 documents the title of each action along with, the lead organization, partners, timeline, 
cost, and potential funding resources. The HMAC decided to modify the prioritization of action items in 
this update to reflect current conditions (risk assessment), needs, and capacity (see Attachment A for 
more information). High priority actions are shown in bold text with grey highlight. The Fire District will 
focus their attention, and resource availability, upon these achievable, high leverage, activities over the 
next five-years. Although this methodology provides a guide for the HMAC in terms of implementation, 
the HMAC has the option to implement any of the action items at any time. This option to consider all 
action items for implementation allows the committee to consider mitigation strategies as new 
opportunities arise, such as capitalizing on funding sources that could pertain to an action item that is 
not currently listed as the highest priority. Refer to Attachment A for changes to actions since the 
previous NHMP.  

Packet Pg. 37



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum  P a g e  | 12 

Table CFD-1 Action Items 
 Impacted Hazard Implementation and Maintenance 

Action 
Item # Statement 

Dr
ou

gh
t 

Ea
rt

hq
ua

ke
 

Ex
tr

em
e 

He
at

 

Fl
oo

d 

La
nd

sl
id

e 

Vo
lc

an
ic

 E
ve

nt
 

W
ild

fir
e 

W
in

ds
to

rm
 

W
in

te
r S

to
rm

 

Lead/ Partners Timeline 
Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Estimated 
Cost  

1 Continue to enhance education programs aimed at mitigating 
natural hazards and reducing risk.   X X X X X X X X X 

Emergency 
Management/ 
Business Services 

Ongoing 

Local 
Resources, 
OEM, FEMA, 
DLCD 

Low 

2 
Continue to conduct seismic evaluations and start projects 
implementing appropriate structural and non-structural 
mitigation strategies. 

 X        Facilities/ Emergency 
Services Long 

Local 
Resources, 
FEMA HMA, 
SRGP 

Low to 
High 

3 
Continue to coordinate with the County and Cities to make 
stations a priority for plowing and ensure up-to-date 
knowledge of plowing routes. 

        X 
Emergency 
Management/ 
Business Services 

Short Local 
Resources Low 

4 
Continue to coordinate wildfire mitigation action items 
through the Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection 
Plan. 

      X   
Fire Prevention / 
Business Services, 
Emergency Services  

Ongoing 

Local 
Resources, 
FEMA HMA, 
CWDG, ODF, 
OSFM 

Low to 
High 

5 Continue to promote legal, safe, and responsible debris 
collection and burning through public outreach and education.       X   Fire Prevention/ 

Business Services Short Local 
Resources Low 

6 Continue to promote fire-resistant strategies for new and 
existing developments.       X   Fire Prevention/ 

Business Services Short Local 
Resources Low 

7 Continue to increase participation in land use reviews of 
residential structures in the Timber/Agriculture Zone.       X   Fire Prevention/ 

Business Services Long Local 
Resources Low 

Packet Pg. 38



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum   P a g e  | 13 

 Impacted Hazard Implementation and Maintenance 

Action 
Item # Statement 

Dr
ou

gh
t 

Ea
rt

hq
ua

ke
 

Ex
tr

em
e 

He
at

 

Fl
oo

d 

La
nd

sl
id

e 

Vo
lc

an
ic

 E
ve

nt
 

W
ild

fir
e 

W
in

ds
to

rm
 

W
in

te
r S

to
rm

 

Lead/ Partners Timeline 
Potential 
Funding 
Source 

Estimated 
Cost  

8 
Continue to conduct a Community Meeting to educate 
community on defensible space, and measures that can be 
taken to reduce structural ignitability. 

      X   Fire Prevention/ 
Business Services Short Local 

Resources Low 

9 
Continue to obtain structural ignitability data by conducting 
structural triage assessment data collection (including GPS 
points) for homes in Communities at Risk. 

      X   Fire Prevention/ 
Business Services Ongoing Local 

Resources Low 

10 Work with partners to develop redundant 911 and civilian 
communication network.       X   Fire Prevention/ 

Business Services Short Local 
Resources Low 

11 Sustain and expand Firewise adapted communities’ program.       X   Fire Prevention/ 
Business Services Short Local 

Resources Low 

Source: Clackamas Fire District HMAC, updated 2023 
Cost: Low (less than $50,000), Medium ($50,000-$100,000), High (more than $100,000) 
Timing: Ongoing (continuous), Short (1-2 years), Medium (3-5 years), Long (5 or more years) 
Priority Actions: Identified with orange highlight  

Packet Pg. 39



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 14 

Risk Assessment 
This section of the NHMP addendum addresses 44 CFR 201.6(b)(2) - Risk Assessment. Assessing natural 
hazard risk has three phases:  

• Phase 1: Identify hazards that can impact the jurisdiction. This includes an evaluation of 
potential hazard impacts – type, location, extent, etc.  

• Phase 2: Identify important community assets, and system vulnerabilities. Example 
vulnerabilities include people, businesses, homes, roads, historic places, and drinking water 
sources.  

• Phase 3: Evaluate the extent to which the identified hazards overlap with or have an impact on, 
the important assets identified by the community. 

The local level rationale for the identified mitigation strategies (action items) is presented herein, and 
within Volume I, Section 2, and Volume III, Appendix C. The risk assessment process is graphically 
depicted in Figure CFD-2. Ultimately, the goal of hazard mitigation is to reduce the area of risk, where 
hazards overlap vulnerable systems. 

Figure CFD-2 Understanding Risk 

 

Hazard Analysis 
The Clackamas Fire District HMAC developed their hazard vulnerability assessment (HVA), using the 
County’s HVA as a reference. Changes from the County’s HVA were made where appropriate to reflect 
distinctions in vulnerability and risk from natural hazards unique to Clackamas Fire District, which are 
discussed throughout this addendum.  

  

Packet Pg. 40



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 15 

Table CFD-2 shows the HVA matrix for Clackamas Fire District listing each hazard in order of rank from 
high to low. For local governments, conducting the hazard analysis is a useful step in planning for hazard 
mitigation, response, and recovery. The method provides the jurisdiction with sense of hazard priorities 
but does not predict the occurrence of a hazard.  

Two catastrophic hazards (Cascadia Subduction Zone earthquake and a Crustal earthquake event such as 
from the Portland Fault) and two chronic hazards (wildfire and winter storm) rank as the top hazard 
threats to the Fire District (Top Tier). The extreme heat, windstorm, drought, and flood hazards 
comprise the next highest ranked hazards (Middle Tier), while volcanic event and landslide comprise the 
lowest ranked hazards (Bottom Tier). 

Table CFD-2 Hazard Analysis Matrix – Clackamas Fire District  

Source: Clackamas Fire District HMAC, 2023 

Community Characteristics 
Table CFD-4 and the following section provides information on Fire District specific demographics and 
assets. Many of these community characteristics can affect how natural hazards impact communities 
and how communities choose to plan for natural hazard mitigation. Considering the Fire District specific 
assets during the planning process can assist in identifying appropriate measures for natural hazard 
mitigation. New development has complied with the standards of the Oregon Building Code per County 
and city development codes. 

The Fire District’s service area is near the southern limits of the Portland metro-area. The Fire District 
serves the cities of Happy Valley, Johnson City, Milwaukie, and Oregon City and the unincorporated 
areas of Barton, Beavercreek, Boring, Carus, Carver, Central Point, Clackamas, Clarkes, Damascus, Eagle 
Creek, Highland, Hillsview, Holcomb, Kelso, Jennings Lodge, Oak Grove, Redland, South End, Sunnyside, 
and Westwood.  

The Fire District has grown in land area over the years as it merged with to provided expanded service 
levels and to expand the scope of services with the economies of scale of modern fire agencies.  

Temperatures range from monthly average lows in the mid-30°F range in the winter months 
(December/January coldest) to average highs in the mid-80°F range in the summer months (July/August 
hottest). The average annual precipitation ranges within the district but is typically in the 40 to 50-inch 
range with most precipitation falling between October and April. 

Hazard History Vulnerabi l ity
Maximum 

Threat Probabil ity

Total
Threat
Sc ore

Hazard 
Rank

Hazard 
Tiers

Wildfire 18 35 80 56 189 1
Earthquake - Cascadia 2 45 100 35 182 2
Earthquake - Crustal 6 50 100 21 177 3
Winter Storm 12 35 70 56 173 4
Extreme Heat Event 10 35 70 35 150 5
Windstorm 14 25 50 56 145 6
Drought 10 15 50 56 131 7
Flood 16 15 40 49 120 8
Volcanic Event 2 35 50 7 94 9
Landslide 14 15 20 35 84 10

Top
Tier

Middle 
Tier

Bottom 
Tier

Packet Pg. 41

http://www.oregon.gov/bcd/codes-stand/Pages/index.aspx


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 16 

Transportation/Infrastructure  
Transportation has played a major role in shaping the communities within the service area of the Fire 
District. Interstate 205 runs from the western edge through the Fire District and north; State Highway 
99E (or McLoughlin Blvd.) runs along the western border of the Fire District; Highway 213 runs north to 
south through the central part of the Fire District; Highway 212/224 runs from Interstate 205 east 
towards the Fire Districts eastern boundary.  

Today, mobility plays an important role in the area and the daily experience of its residents and 
businesses as they move from point A to point B. Motor vehicles represent the dominant mode of travel 
through, and within the Fire District. Most communities within the Fire District’s service area are 
provided public transportation by Tri-Met which provides daily local bus services to numerous 
community transit centers. The Fire District’s service area is also accessed by the Union Pacific Railroad 
main line and Amtrak, which travels northeast to southwest carrying both passengers and freight. 

Economy 
The Fire District is located within the greater Portland region, resulting in easy access to downtown 
Portland and surrounding communities. Fire District service area residents are mostly employed in 
professional and related occupations.2  

For additional information on the characteristics of the Fire District, in terms of geography, 
environment, population, demographics, employment and economics, as well as housing and 
transportation see Volume II addenda for the cities of Happy Valley, Johnson City, Milwaukie, and 
Oregon City, and Volume III, Appendix C, Community Profile.  Many of these community characteristics 
can affect how natural hazards impact communities and how communities choose to plan for natural 
hazard mitigation.  

  

 

2 Social Explorer, Table B17008, U.S. Census Bureau, 2012-2016 American Community Survey Estimates. 

Packet Pg. 42



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 17 

Community Assets 
This section outlines the resources, facilities, and infrastructure that, if damaged, could significantly 
impact the public safety, economic conditions, and environmental integrity of Clackamas Fire District. It 
is important to note that the facilities identified as “critical” and “essential” are characterized differently 
than the structural code that identifies buildings as “essential” and “non-essential.” The structural code 
uses different language and criteria and therefore have completely different meanings than the 
buildings identified in this addendum. Considering the Fire District specific assets during the planning 
process can assist in identifying appropriate measures for natural hazard mitigation. 

Critical Facilities 
Facilities that are critical to government response, and recovery activities (i.e. life, safety, property, and 
environmental protection). These facilities include: 911 Centers, Emergency Operations Centers, Police, 
and Fire Stations, Public Works facilities, sewer, and water facilities, hospitals, bridges, roads, shelters, 
and more.  

Table CFD-3 Critical Facilities in Clackamas Fire District 

Critical Facilities by Community 

Flood 
1% 

Annual 
Chance 

CSZ 9.0 
Earthquake 
Moderate 

to 
Complete 
Damage 

Canby-
Molalla 

Fault Mw-
6.8 

Moderate to 
Complete 
Damage 

Landslide 
High and Very 

High 
Susceptibility 

Channel 
Migration 

Zone 

Wildfire 
High or 

Moderate 
Risk 

Volcanic 
Lahar - 1% 

Annual 
Chance 

Exposed >50% Prob. >50% Prob. Exposed Exposed Exposed Exposed 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 1 - X - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 2 - X - - na - na 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 3 - - - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 4 - - - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 5 - X - - na - na 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 6 - X - - na - na 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 7 - X - - na - na 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 8 - X - - na - na 

Clackamas Fire District -  
Training Center - - - - na - na 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 9 - - - - na - na 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 10 - - - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 11 - - - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 12 - X - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 13 - - - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 14 - X - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 15 - X X - na - na 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 16 - X - - na - na 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 17 - - - - na - na 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 18 - - - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 19 - - - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 20 - - - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 21 - - - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District - Station 22 - - - - na - na 

Packet Pg. 43



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 18 

Critical Facilities by Community 

Flood 
1% 

Annual 
Chance 

CSZ 9.0 
Earthquake 
Moderate 

to 
Complete 
Damage 

Canby-
Molalla 

Fault Mw-
6.8 

Moderate to 
Complete 
Damage 

Landslide 
High and Very 

High 
Susceptibility 

Channel 
Migration 

Zone 

Wildfire 
High or 

Moderate 
Risk 

Volcanic 
Lahar - 1% 

Annual 
Chance 

Exposed >50% Prob. >50% Prob. Exposed Exposed Exposed Exposed 

Clackamas Fire District -  
Station 71: Sandy 

- - - - - - - 

Clackamas Fire District -  
Station 73: Roslyn 

- - 
- 

- - - - 

Clackamas Fire District -  
Station 74: Dover 

- - 
- 

- - - - 

Source: DOGAMI, Multi-Hazard Risk Report for Clackamas County, Oregon (O-24-XX, September 2023 Draft), Table A-24. 

Essential Facilities 
Facilities that are essential to the continued delivery of key government services, and/or that may 
significantly impact the public’s ability to recover from the emergency.  

• Fires Stations 
• Fuel Cells 
• Fleet Logistics 
• Training and Wellness (Office) 
• Training and Wellness (Facility) 
• Administrative Building 

Hazard Characteristics 
Drought  
The HMAC determined that the Fire District’s probability for drought is high and that their vulnerability 
to drought is low. The probability rating increased and the vulnerability rating did not change since the 
previous version of this NHMP. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of drought hazards, history, as well as the location, 
extent, and probability of a potential event. Due to the climate of Clackamas County, past and present 
weather conditions have shown an increasing potential for drought.  

Vulnerability Assessment 
Due to insufficient data and resources, Clackamas Fire District is currently unable to perform a 
quantitative risk assessment, or exposure analysis, for this hazard. For a list of facilities and 
infrastructure vulnerable to this hazard see the Community Assets section. For specific information for 
communities within the Fire District’s service area see Volume I, Section 2 and the addenda for the cities 
of Happy Valley, Johnson City, Milwaukie, and Oregon City. 

Mitigation Activities 
The existing drought hazard mitigation activities are conducted at the county, regional, state, and 
federal levels and are described in the Clackamas County NHMP.  

  

Packet Pg. 44



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 19 

Future Projections 
According to the Oregon Climate Change Research Institute “Future Climate Projections, Clackamas 
County,”3 drought, as represented by low summer soil moisture, low spring snowpack, low summer 
runoff, and low summer precipitation, is projected to become more frequent in Clackamas County by 
the 2050s. 

Increasingly frequent droughts will have economic and social impacts upon those who depend upon 
predictable growing periods (ranches, farms, vineyards, gardeners) as well as upon the price and 
availability of fresh vegetables. It may also stress local jurisdiction’s ability to provide water for irrigation 
or commercial and household use. 

Earthquake (Cascadia Subduction Zone) 
The HMAC determined that the Fire District’s probability for a Cascadia Subduction Zone (CSZ) 
earthquake is moderate and that their vulnerability to a CSZ earthquake is high. These ratings did not 
change since the previous version of this NHMP. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of earthquake hazards, history, as well as the location, 
extent, and probability of a potential event. Generally, an event that affects the County is likely to affect 
Clackamas Fire District as well. The causes and characteristics of an earthquake event are appropriately 
described within the Volume I, Section 2 as well as the location and extent of potential hazards. Previous 
occurrences are well documented within Volume I, Section 2 and the community impacts described by 
the County would generally be the same for Clackamas Fire District as well.  

Within the Northern Willamette Valley/Portland Metro Region, three potential faults and/or zones can 
generate high-magnitude earthquakes. These include the Cascadia Subduction Zone, Portland Hills Fault 
Zone, and Gales Creek-Newberg-Mt. Angel Structural Zone (discussed in the crustal earthquake section).  

Cascadia Subduction Zone 
The Cascadia Subduction Zone is a 680-mile-long zone of active tectonic convergence where oceanic 
crust of the Juan de Fuca Plate is subducting beneath the North American continent at a rate of 4 cm per 
year. Scientists have found evidence that 11 large, tsunami-producing earthquakes have occurred off 
the Pacific Northwest coast in the past 6,000 years. These earthquakes took place roughly between 300 
and 5,400 years ago with an average occurrence interval of about 510 years. The most recent of these 
large earthquakes took place in approximately 1700 A.D.4 

Figure CFD-3 displays relative shaking hazards from a Cascadia Subduction Zone earthquake event. As 
shown in the figure, most of the Fire District is expected to experience very strong shaking (orange), 
while areas near rivers and streams will experience severe (light red) to violent (dark red) shaking in a 
CSZ event.  

Ground shaking can mix groundwater and soil, liquefying and weakening the ground that supports 
buildings and severing utility lines. This is a special problem in low lying areas adjacent to rivers where 
the water table is shallow and the soils are subject to liquefaction. For example, the fine-grained alluvial 
soils along the banks of the Willamette and Clackamas Rivers and area creeks are likely subject to this 
hazard.  

 

3 Oregon Climate Change Research Institute, Future Climate Projections, Clackamas County, Oregon. February 2023. 
4 The Cascadia Region Earthquake Workgroup, 2005. Cascadia Subduction Zone Earthquakes: A magnitude 9.0 earthquake 
scenario. http://www.crew.org/PDFs/CREWSubductionZoneSmall.pdf  

Packet Pg. 45

http://www.crew.org/PDFs/CREWSubductionZoneSmall.pdf


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 20 

The Fire District’s proximity to the Cascadia Subduction Zone, potential slope instability and the 
prevalence of certain soils subject to liquefaction and amplification combine to give the Fire District a 
high-risk profile. Due to the expected pattern of damage resulting from a CSZ event, the Oregon 
Resilience Plan divides the State into four distinct zones and places the Fire District predominately 
within the “Valley Zone” (Valley Zone, from the summit of the Coast Range to the summit of the 
Cascades). Within the Northwest Oregon region, damage and shaking is expected to be strong and 
widespread - an event will be disruptive to daily life and commerce and the main priority is expected to 
be restoring services to business and residents.  

Older buildings and the sewer system in the Fire District are most vulnerable to damage. Earthquakes 
shift soil that could cause landslides. Transportation routes and economic areas within the Fire District 
can also be affected. Demand on resources such as Emergency Service (Fire and Ambulance) would also 
increase. 

Figure CFD-3 Cascadia Subduction Zone Expected Shaking 

 
Source: Map created by Oregon Partnership for Disaster Resilience.  
Data: Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries. Preparedness Framework Implementation Team (IRIS v3). 
Note: To view hazard detail click this link to access Oregon HazVu 

Earthquake (Crustal) 
The HMAC determined that the Fire District’s probability for a crustal earthquake is low and that their 
vulnerability to crustal earthquake is high. These ratings did not change since the previous version of this 
NHMP. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the causes and characteristics of earthquake hazards, history, as well as 
the location, extent, and probability of a potential event. Generally, an event that affects the County is 

Packet Pg. 46

https://www.oregon.gov/dogami/hazvu/Pages/index.aspx


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 21 

likely to affect the Fire District as well. Figure CFD-4 shows a generalized geologic map of the Fire District 
service area that includes the areas for potential regional active faults, earthquake history (1971-2008), 
and soft soils (liquefaction) hazard. The figure shows the areas of greatest concern within the service 
area as red and orange.  

Figure CFD-4 Active Crustal Faults, Epicenters (2005-2023), and Soft Soils 

 
Source: Map created by Oregon Partnership for Disaster Resilience.  
Data: Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries. Preparedness Framework Implementation Team (IRIS v3). 
Note: To view hazard detail click this link to access Oregon HazVu 

There are several potential crustal faults and/or zones near, or within, the Fire District’s service area that 
can generate high-magnitude earthquakes. These include the Gales Creek-Mt. Angel Structural Zone, 
Bolton Fault, Oatfield Fault, Canby-Molalla structural zones, Damascus-Tickle Creek fault zone, and 
Portland Hills Fault Zone (discussed in greater detail below). Historical records count over 56 
earthquakes in the Portland-metro area. The more severe ones occurred in 1877, 1880, 1953 and 1962. 
The most recent severe earthquake was the March 25, 1993 Scotts Mills quake. It was a 5.6 magnitude 
quake with aftershocks continuing at least through April 8.  

Earthquake-induced damages are difficult to predict, and depend on the size, type, and location of the 
earthquake, as well as site-specific building, and soil characteristics. Presently, it is not possible to 
accurately forecast the location or size of earthquakes, but it is possible to predict the behavior of soil at 
any site. In many major earthquakes, damages have primarily been caused by the behavior of the soil. 

Portland Hills Fault Zone 
The Portland Hills Fault Zone is a series of NW-trending faults that vertically displace the Columbia River 
Basalt by 1,130 feet and appear to control thickness changes in late Pleistocene (approx. 780,000 years 

Packet Pg. 47

https://www.oregon.gov/dogami/hazvu/Pages/index.aspx


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 22 

ago) sediment. The fault zone extends along the eastern margin of the Portland Hills for 25 miles and 
extends into the Fire District service area through Milwaukie and near Oregon City.   

Vulnerability Assessment 
In 2018 the Department of Geology and Mineral Industries (DOGAMI) completed a regional impact 
analysis for earthquakes originating from the Cascadia Subduction Zone and Portland Hills faults (O-18-
02), findings from that report relevant to the Fire District’s service area are provided in Volume I, Section 
2 and within the addenda for the cities of Happy Valley, Johnson City, Milwaukie, and Oregon City.  

Seismic building codes were implemented in Oregon in the 1970s, however, stricter standards did not 
take effect until 1991 and the early 2000s. As noted in the community profile, approximately 64% of 
residential buildings (primarily single-family residential) with the Fire District service area were built 
prior to 1990 (30% before 1970), which increases the service areas vulnerability to the earthquake 
hazard. Information on specific public buildings’ (schools and public safety) estimated seismic resistance, 
determined by DOGAMI in 2007, is shown in Table CFD-7; each “X” represents one building within that 
ranking category. Of the Fire District facilities evaluated by DOGAMI using their Rapid Visual Survey 
(RVS), none have a very high (100% chance) or a high (greater than 10% chance) collapse potential.  

Table CFD-4 Rapid Visual Survey Scores 
   Level of Collapse Potential 

Facility Location Site ID* 
Low  

(<1%) 
Moderate 

(>1%) 
High 

(>10%) 
Very High 

(100%) 
Station 1 – Town Center 
11300 SE Fuller Rd  
(ca. 1983) 

Milwaukie Clac_fir09 X    

Station 2 – Milwaukie 
3200 SE Harrison St  
(ca. 1993) 

Milwaukie Clac_fir26 X    

Station 3 – Oak Grove 
2930 SE Oak Grove Blvd  
(ca. 1997) 

Milwaukie Clac_fir27 X    

Station 4 – Lake Road 
6600 SE Lake Rd  
(ca. 1999) 

Milwaukie Clac_fir08 X    

Station 5 – Mt Scott 
9339 SE Causey Ave 
(ca. 2003) 

Happy 
Valley None 2007 RVS report did not include structural 

appendix for this facility. 

Station 6 – Happy Valley 
12901 SE King Rd 
(ca. 2000) 

Happy 
Valley Clac_fir13 X    

Station 7 – Pleasant Valley 
10921 SE 172nd 
(ca. 2004) 

Happy 
Valley None 2007 RVS report did not include structural 

appendix for this facility. 

Station 8 – Clackamas 
16100 SE 130th Ave 
(ca. 1985) 

Happy 
Valley 

Clac_fir11 
Clac_fir12 

X 
X    

Station 9 – Holcomb 
300 Longview Way 
(ca. 1974) 

Oregon 
City Clac_fir29 X    

Packet Pg. 48

http://www.oregongeology.org/pubs/ofr/p-O-18-02.htm
http://www.oregongeology.org/pubs/ofr/p-O-18-02.htm
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-1-town-center/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-2-milwaukie/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-3-oak-grove/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-4-lake-road/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-5-mt-scott/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-6-happy-valley/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-7-pleasant-valley/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-8-clackamas/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-9-holcomb/


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 23 

   Level of Collapse Potential 

Facility Location Site ID* 
Low  

(<1%) 
Moderate 

(>1%) 
High 

(>10%) 
Very High 

(100%) 
Station 10 - Beavercreek 
22310 S Beavercreek Rd 
(ca. 2000) 

County Clac_fir14 X    

Station 11 – Redland 
18265 S Redland Rd 
(ca. 2000) 

County Clac_fir25 X    

Station 12 – Logan 
18081 S Harding Rd 
(ca. 1980) 

County Clac_fir24 Mitigated per 2013-2014 SRGP grant. 

Station 13 – Clarkes 
25675 S Beavercreek Rd 
(ca. 1955) 

County Clac_fir04 Mitigated per 2013-2014 SRGP grant. 

Station 14 – Boring 
28655 SE Hwy 212 
(ca. 1969) 

County Clac_fir22 X    

Station 15 – John Adams 
624 7t St 
(ca. 1921) 

Oregon 
City Clac_fir35 X    

Station 16 – Hilltop 
19340 Molalla Ave 
(ca. 2018) 

Oregon 
City Clac_fir36 Mitigated/rebuilt per 2013-2014 SRGP grant. 

Station 17 – South End 
19001 South End Rd 
(ca. 2004) 

Oregon 
City Clac_fir51 X    

Station 18 – Eagle Creek 
32200 SE Judd Rd 
(ca. 1999) 

County Clac_fir47 X    

Station 19 - Damascus 
19750 SE Damascus Ln 
(ca. 2019) 

County None 2007 RVS report did not include structural 
appendix for this facility. 

Station 20 – Highland 
22295 S Lower Highland 
(ca. 1960) – storage only 

County Clac_fir28 X    

Station 21 – Centennial Park 
20100 SE Hwy 212 
(ca. 1976) 

County Clac_fir46 X    

Station 22 – Gladstone 
(555 Portland Ave)  
see mitigation successes 

Gladstone Clac_fir19 X    

Station 71 - Sandy 
(17460 Bruns Ave)  
see Mitigation Successes 

Sandy Clac_fir37 X    

Station 73 – Roslyn  
(13120 SE Ten Eyck Rd)  

Sandy Clac_fir42 X    

Station 74 - Dover  
(24545 SE Firwood Rd)  

Sandy Clac_fir43 X    

Packet Pg. 49

http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-10-beavercreek/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-11-redland/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-12-logan/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-13-clarkes/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-14-boring/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-15-john-adams/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-16-hilltop/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-17-south-end/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-18-eagle-creek/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-19-damascus/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-20-highland/
http://www.clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-21-centennial-park/
https://clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-19-damascus-2/
https://clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-71-sandy-main/
https://clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-73-roslyn/
https://clackamasfire.com/fire-stations/station-74-dover/


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 24 

Source: DOGAMI 2007. Open File Report 0-07-02. Statewide Seismic Needs Assessment Using Rapid Visual Assessment.  
“*” – Site ID is referenced on the RVS Clackamas County Map 
Note 1: Bold indicates facilities that have been seismically retrofitted or rebuilt. 

For a list of additional facilities and infrastructure vulnerable to this hazard see the Community Assets 
section. In addition to building damages, utility (electric power, water, wastewater, natural gas) and 
transportation systems (bridges, pipelines) are also likely to experience significant damage. There is a 
low probability that a major earthquake will result in failure of upstream dams. 

Utility systems will be significantly damaged, including damaged buildings and damage to utility 
infrastructure, including water treatment plants and equipment at high voltage substations (especially 
230 kV or higher which are more vulnerable than lower voltage substations). Buried pipe systems will 
suffer extensive damage with approximately one break per mile in soft soil areas. There would be a 
much lower rate of pipe breaks in other areas. Restoration of utility services will require substantial 
mutual aid from utilities outside of the affected area.  

Earthquake Regional Impact Analysis 
In 2018 DOGAMI completed a regional impact analysis for earthquakes originating from the Cascadia 
Subduction Zone and Portland Hills faults (O-18-02). Their study focused on damage to buildings, and 
the people that occupy them, and to two key infrastructure sectors: electric power transmission and 
emergency transportation routes. Each earthquake was studied with wet and dry soil conditions and for 
events that occur during the daytime (2 PM) and night time (2 AM). Impacts to buildings and people 
were tabulated at the county, jurisdictional (city), and neighborhood unit level. Estimated damaged 
varied widely across the study area depending on local geology, soil moisture conditions, type of 
building, and distance from the studied faults. In general, damage from the Cascadia Subduction Zone 
scenario was greater in the western portion of the study area, however, damage could still be significant 
in some areas east of the Willamette River. The report found that damage to high-value commercial and 
industrial buildings was high since many of these facilities are in areas of high to very high liquefaction 
hazard. Casualties were higher during the daytime scenario (generally double) since more people would 
be at work and occupying non-wood structures that fare worse in an earthquake.  

The Portland Hills fault scenario created greater damages than the Cascade Subduction Zone scenario 
due primarily to its placement relative to population centers and regional assets; however, at distances 
15 or more miles from the Portland Hills fault the damages from the Cascadia Subduction Zone scenario 
generally were higher. In both the Cascadia Subduction Zone and Portland Hills Fault scenarios it is 
forecasted that emergency transportation routes will be fragmented, affecting the distribution of goods 
and services, conditions are worse under the Portland Hills Fault scenario. Portions of the electric 
distribution system are also expected to be impacted under both scenarios, however, the impact is 
considerably less than it is to the transportation routes. Additional, capacity or redundancy within the 
electric distribution network may be beneficial in select areas that are likely to have greater impacts. For 
specific information for communities within the Fire District’s service area see Volume I, Section 2 and 
the addenda for the cities of Happy Valley, Johnson City, Milwaukie, and Oregon City. 

Recommendations from the report included topics within Planning, Recovery, Resiliency: Buildings, 
Resiliency: Infrastructure Improvements, Resiliency: Essential and Critical Facilities, Enhanced 
Emergency Management Tools, Database Improvements, Public Awareness, and Future Reports. The 
recommendations of this study are largely incorporated within this NHMPs mitigation strategies (Table 
CFD-1 and Volume I, Section 3). For more detailed information on the report, the damage estimates, and 
the recommendations see: Earthquake regional impact analysis for Clackamas, Multnomah, and 
Washington Counties, Oregon (2018, O-18-02). 

Packet Pg. 50

https://www.oregon.gov/dogami/rvs/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/dogami/rvs/maps/Maps_Clackamas_County.pdf
http://www.oregongeology.org/pubs/ofr/p-O-18-02.htm
http://www.oregongeology.org/pubs/ofr/p-O-18-02.htm


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 25 

Mitigation Activities 
Many buildings in Clackamas Fire District have been seismically upgraded. A $29 million general 
obligation bond was approved in 2015 and seismic retrofit grant awards per the Seismic Rehabilitation 
Grant Program5 were funded to retrofit Fire Station 12 (2013-2014 grant award, $94,552), Fire Station 
13 (2013-2014 grant award, $71,582), and Fire Station #16 (2013-2014 grant award, $483,062).  

Future Projections  
Future development (residential, commercial, industrial, and infrastructure) within Clackamas County 
will be at risk to earthquake impacts, although this risk can be mitigated by the adoption and 
enforcement of high development and building standards. Reducing risks to vulnerable populations 
should be considered during the redevelopment of existing properties. 

Flood 
The HMAC determined that the Fire District’s probability for flood is moderate and that their 
vulnerability to flood is low. The probability rating did not change and the vulnerability rating decreased 
since the previous version of this NHMP. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of flood hazards, history, as well as the location, extent 
and probability of a potential event. Portions of Clackamas Fire District have areas of floodplains (special 
flood hazard areas, SFHA). These include areas include along Willamette River, Clackamas River, and 
creeks within the service area (Figure CFD-5). Other portions of Clackamas Fire District, outside of the 
mapped floodplains, are also subject to flooding from local storm water drainage. Not all flood prone 
areas are subject to damage. Several valleys, such as the upper reaches of Abernethy Creek, are still in 
or near their natural state. Flooding of such areas causes no damage to human development and may 
help the riparian habitat. 

Vulnerability Assessment  
Floods can have a devastating impact on almost every aspect of the community, including private 
property damage, public infrastructure damage and economic loss from business interruption. It is 
important for the Fire District to be aware of flooding impacts and assess its level of risk.  

The economic losses due to business closures often total more than the initial property losses that 
result from flood events. Business owners and their employees are significantly impacted by flood 
events. Direct damages from flooding are the most common impacts, but indirect damages, such as 
diminished clientele, can be just as debilitating to a business.  

For mitigation planning purposes, it is important to recognize that flood risk for a community is not 
limited only to areas of mapped floodplains. Other portions of the Fire District outside of the mapped 
floodplains may also be at relatively high risk from over bank flooding from streams too small to be 
mapped by FEMA or from local storm water drainage. 

Most of the buildings affected by flooding are in the lowest parts of the Fire District’s service area. For a 
list of facilities and infrastructure vulnerable to this hazard see the Community Assets section. For 
specific information for communities within the Fire District’s service area see Volume I, Section 2 and 
the addenda for the cities of Happy Valley, Johnson City, Milwaukie, and Oregon City. 

 

5 The Seismic Rehabilitation Grant Program (SRGP) is a state of Oregon competitive grant program that provides funding for the 
seismic rehabilitation of critical public buildings, particularly public schools and emergency services facilities. 

Packet Pg. 51

http://www.orinfrastructure.org/Infrastructure-Programs/Seismic-Rehab/
http://www.orinfrastructure.org/Infrastructure-Programs/Seismic-Rehab/


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 26 

Figure CFD-5 Special Flood Hazard Area 

Source: Map created by Oregon Partnership for Disaster Resilience.  
Data: Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries. Preparedness Framework Implementation Team (IRIS v3). 
Note: To view hazard detail click this link to access Oregon HazVu 

National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) 
FEMA updated the Flood Insurance Study (FIS) and Flood Insurance Rate Maps (FIRMs) for Clackamas 
County in 2018 (effective January 19, 2018). The Fire District is not a community which has authority to 
adopt and enforce floodplain management regulations for the areas within its jurisdiction. The cities of 
Happy Valley, Johnson City, Milwaukie, Oregon City and Clackamas County participate in the National 
Flood Insurance Program (NFIP).  

There are no repetitive loss or severe repetitive loss properties owned or operated by the Fire District. 
For specific information for communities within the Fire District’s service area see Volume I, Section 2 
(Table 2.11 for more information) and the addenda for the cities of Happy Valley, Johnson City, 
Milwaukie, and Oregon City. 

Mitigation Activities 
The existing flood hazard mitigation activities are conducted at the city, county, regional, state, and 
federal levels and are described in the Clackamas County NHMP and city addenda.  

Future Projections 
According to the Oregon Climate Change Research Institute “Future Climate Projections, Clackamas 
County,”6 winter flood risk at mid- to low elevations in Clackamas County, where temperatures are near 

 

6 Oregon Climate Change Research Institute, Future Climate Projections, Clackamas County, Oregon. February 2023. 

Packet Pg. 52

https://www.oregon.gov/dogami/hazvu/Pages/index.aspx


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 27 

freezing during winter and precipitation is a mix of rain and snow, is projected to increase as winter 
temperatures increase. The temperature increase will lead to an increase in the percentage of 
precipitation falling as rain rather than snow. The projected increases in total precipitation, and in rain 
relative to snow, likely will increase flood magnitudes in the region. Vulnerable populations adjacent to 
floodways (including the unhoused, manufactured home communities, and campground occupants) will 
be more at risk as the winter flood risk increases. 

Landslide  
The HMAC determined that the Fire District’s probability for landslide is moderate and that their 
vulnerability to landslide is low. These ratings did not change since the previous version of this NHMP. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of landslide hazards, history, as well as the location, 
extent, and probability of a potential event within the region. Landslide susceptibility exposure within 
the Fire District’s service area is shown in Figure CFD-6. Most of the Fire District’s service area 
demonstrates a low to moderate susceptibility to landslide exposure. Note that even if an area has a 
high percentage of area in a high or very high landslide exposure susceptibility zone, this does not mean 
there is a high risk, because risk is the intersection of hazard and assets. 

Figure CFD-6 Landslide Susceptibility Exposure 

Source: Map created by Oregon Partnership for Disaster Resilience.  
Data: Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries. Preparedness Framework Implementation Team (IRIS v3). 
Note: To view hazard detail click this link to access Oregon HazVu 

Landslides destroy or damage anything on the sliding hillside or in the path of the slide. This includes 
buildings, houses, and streets. Sometimes, a small amount of settlement occurs, giving the owner time 
to shore up or retrofit the building to prevent further damage. Many property owners in the Fire 

Packet Pg. 53

https://www.oregon.gov/dogami/hazvu/Pages/index.aspx


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 28 

District’s service area have built retaining walls and replaced slide prone soils with rock to help prevent 
landslides. However, if an entire hillside fails, the buildings may be destroyed, and the streets washed 
out or covered in debris. 

The most common type of landslides in Clackamas County are slides caused by erosion and flooding. 
Slides move in contact with the underlying surface, are generally slow moving and can be deep. Rainfall-
initiated landslides tend to be smaller; while earthquake induced landslides may be quite large. All soil 
types can be affected by natural landslide triggering conditions. 

Vulnerability Assessment  
DOGAMI completed a statewide landslide susceptibility assessment in 2016 (O-16-02), general findings 
from that report are provided above and within Figure CFD-6. For specific information for communities 
within the Fire District’s service area see Volume I, Section 2 and the addenda for the cities of Happy 
Valley, Johnson City, Milwaukie, and Oregon City. 

Potential landslide-related impacts are adequately described within Volume I, Section 2 and include 
infrastructural damages, economic impacts (due to isolation and/or arterial road closures), property 
damages and obstruction to evacuation routes. Rain-induced landslides and debris flows can potentially 
occur during any winter in Clackamas County and thoroughfares beyond City limits are susceptible to 
obstruction as well. For a list of facilities and infrastructure vulnerable to this hazard see the Community 
Assets section.  

Mitigation Activities 
Clackamas Fire District works to mitigate future landslide hazards to its fire stations and other critical 
facilities. Additional landslide hazard mitigation activities are conducted at the city, county, regional, 
state, and federal levels and are described in the Clackamas County NHMP and city addenda.  

Future Projections 
Landslides are often triggered by rainfall when the soil becomes saturated. As a surrogate 
measure of landslide risk, the Oregon Climate Change Research Institute report presents a threshold 
based on recent precipitation (cumulative precipitation over the previous 3 days) and antecedent 
precipitation (cumulative precipitation on the 15 days prior to the previous 3 days). By the 2050s under 
the higher emissions scenario, the average number of days per year in Clackamas County on which the 
landslide risk threshold is exceeded is not projected to change substantially. However, landslide risk 
depends on multiple factors, and this metric, which is based on precipitation, does not reflect all aspects 
of the hazard. Additional triggers, such as earthquakes, wildfires, or development, can increase risks of 
landslides. Future development along slopes or adjacent to riverbanks will be a greater risk of impact 
from this hazard. 

Severe Weather 
Severe weather in can account for a variety of intense and potentially damaging weather events. These 
events include windstorms and winter storms. The following section describes the unique probability 
and vulnerability of each identified weather hazard. Other more abrupt or irregular events such as hail 
are also described in this section. 

Extreme Heat 
The HMAC determined that the Fire District’s probability for extreme heat events is moderate and that 
their vulnerability is moderate. The probability rating increased and the vulnerability rating did not 
change since the previous version of this NHMP. 

Packet Pg. 54

https://www.oregongeology.org/pubs/ofr/O-16-02_report.pdf


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 29 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of extreme heat, history, as well as the location, extent, 
and probability of a potential event within the region. Generally, an event that affects the County is 
likely to affect the Fire District as well.  

A severe heat episode or "heat wave" occurs about every two to three years and typically lasting two to 
three days but can last as many as five days. A severe heat episode can be defined as consecutive days 
of upper 90s to around 100. Severe heat hazard in the Portland metro region can be described as the 
average number of days we have temperatures greater than or equal to 90-degrees Fahrenheit and 100-
degrees Fahrenheit. On average the region experiences 13.6 days with temperatures above 90-degrees 
Fahrenheit and 1.4 days above 100-degrees Fahrenheit, based on new 30-year climate averages (1981-
2010) from the National Weather Service – Portland Weather Forecast Office. 

The Fire District has not experienced any life-threatening consequences from the few extreme heat 
events in the past, though with the changing climate expect to see more extreme heat events with 
potentially greater risk to the Fire District’s service area population. 

Future Projections 
According to the Oregon Climate Change Research Institute “Future Climate Projections, Clackamas 
County,”7 the number, duration, and intensity of extreme heat events will increase as temperatures 
continue to warm. In Clackamas County, the number of extremely hot days (days on which the 
temperature is 90°F or higher) and the temperature on the hottest day of the year are projected to 
increase by the 2020s and 2050s under both the lower (RCP 4.5) and higher (RCP 8.5) emissions 
scenarios. The number of days per year with temperatures 90°F or higher is projected to increase by an 
average of 12 (range 3–21) by the 2050s, relative to the 1971–2000 historical baselines, under the 
higher emissions scenario. The temperature on the hottest day of the year is projected to increase by an 
average of about 7°F (range 2–11°F) by the 2050s. Higher temperatures and longer/more extreme heat 
events will have negative impacts upon vulnerable populations such as those over 65+, children, those 
living in older or temporary housing, and field workers. 

Windstorm 
The HMAC determined that the Fire District’s probability for windstorm is high and that their 
vulnerability to windstorm is moderate. These ratings did not change since the previous NHMP. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of windstorm hazards, history, as well as the location, 
extent, and probability of a potential event within the region. Because windstorms typically occur during 
winter months, they are sometimes accompanied by ice, freezing rain, flooding and very rarely, snow. 
Other severe weather events that may accompany windstorms, including thunderstorms, hail, lightning 
strikes and tornadoes are generally negligible for the Fire District. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the impacts caused by windstorms, including power outages, downed 
trees, heavy precipitation, building damages and storm-related debris. Additionally, transportation and 
economic disruptions result as well.  

Damage from high winds generally has resulted in downed utility lines and trees usually limited to 
several localized areas. Electrical power can be out anywhere from a few hours to several days. Outdoor 
signs have also suffered damage. If the high winds are accompanied by rain (which they often are), 
blowing leaves and debris clog drainage-ways, which in turn causes localized urban flooding.  

  
 

7 Oregon Climate Change Research Institute, Future Climate Projections, Clackamas County, Oregon. February 2023. 

Packet Pg. 55



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 30 

Future Projections 
Limited research suggests little if any change in the frequency and intensity of windstorms in the 
Northwest as a result of climate change. Those impacted by windstorms at present, including older 
residential or commercial developments with above-ground utilities, poor insulation or older 
construction, heavy tree canopies, or poor storm drainage, will continue to be impacted by windstorms 
in the future.  

Winter Storm (Snow/Ice) 
The HMAC determined that the Fire District’s probability for winter storm is high and that their 
vulnerability to winter storm is moderate. These ratings did not change since the previous version of this 
NHMP. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of winter storm hazards, history, as well as the location, 
extent, and probability of a potential event within the region. Severe winter storms can consist of rain, 
freezing rain, ice, snow, cold temperatures and wind. They originate from troughs of low pressure 
offshore that ride along the jet stream during fall, winter and early spring months. Severe winter storms 
affecting the Fire District’s service area typically originate in the Gulf of Alaska or in the central Pacific 
Ocean. These storms are most common from November through March. 

Most winter storms typically do not cause significant damage; however, they are frequent and have the 
potential to impact economic activity. Road and rail closures due to winter weather are an uncommon 
occurrence but can interrupt commuter and commercial traffic.  

Vulnerability Assessment 
Due to insufficient data and resources, Clackamas Fire District is currently unable to perform a 
quantitative risk assessment, or exposure analysis, for the extreme heat, windstorm, and winter storm 
hazards. For a list of facilities and infrastructure vulnerable to these hazards see the Community Assets 
section. For specific information for communities within the Fire District’s service area see Volume I, 
Section 2 and the addenda for the cities of Happy Valley, Johnson City, Milwaukie, and Oregon City. 

Mitigation Activities 
Clackamas Fire District has made progress to reduce the effects of storms. Most utilities leading to fire 
stations are underground, but in case of power outages the Fire District’s critical facilities have back up 
power generation. Clackamas County Public Health operates heating and cooling centers for the region. 
Additional severe weather hazard mitigation activities are conducted at the city, county, regional, state, 
and federal levels and are described in the Clackamas County NHMP and city addenda. 

Future Projections 
According to the Oregon Climate Change Research Institute “Future Climate Projections, Clackamas 
County,”8 cold extremes will become less frequent and intense as the climate warms. In Clackamas 
County, the number of cold days (maximum temperature 32°F or lower) per year is projected to 
decrease by an average of 6 (range -3– -8) by the 2050s, relative to the 1971–2000 historical baselines, 
under the higher emissions scenario. The temperature on the coldest night of the year is projected to 
increase by an average of 6°F (range 0– 11°F) by the 2050s.  

The intensity of extreme precipitation is expected to increase as the atmosphere warms and holds more 
water vapor. In Clackamas County, the number of days per year with at least 0.75 inches of precipitation 
is not projected to change substantially. However, by the 2050s, the amount of precipitation on the 

 

8 Oregon Climate Change Research Institute, Future Climate Projections, Clackamas County, Oregon. February 2023. 

Packet Pg. 56



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 31 

wettest day and wettest consecutive five days per year is projected to increase by an average of 15% 
(range 0–31%) and 10% (range -1–26%), respectively, relative to the 1971–2000 historical baselines, 
under the higher emissions scenario. 

Vulnerable populations will be more likely to experience the negative impacts of winter storms in the 
future, particularly the unhoused and the elderly. 

Volcanic Event 
The HMAC determined that the Fire District’s probability for a volcanic event is low and that their 
vulnerability to a volcanic event is moderate. These ratings did not change since the previous version of 
this NHMP. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of volcanic hazards, history, as well as the location, 
extent, and probability of a potential event within the region. Generally, an event that affects the 
County is likely to affect the Fire District service area as well. Clackamas Fire District is unlikely to 
experience anything more than volcanic ash during a volcanic event.  

Vulnerability Assessment 
Due to insufficient data and resources, Clackamas Fire District is currently unable to perform a 
quantitative risk assessment, or exposure analysis, for this hazard. For a list of facilities and 
infrastructure vulnerable to this hazard see the Community Assets section. 

Due to the Fire District’s relative distance from volcanoes, its service area is unlikely to experience the 
immediate effects that eruptions have on surrounding areas (i.e., mud and debris flows, or lahars). 
Depending on wind patterns and which volcano erupts, however, the service area may experience 
ashfall. The eruption of Mount St. Helens in 1980, for example, coated the Willamette Valley with a fine 
layer of ash. If Mount Hood erupts, however, the service area could experience a heavier coating of ash. 

Mitigation Activities 
The existing volcano hazard mitigation activities are conducted at the county, regional, state, and 
federal levels and are described in the Clackamas County NHMP.  

Future Projections 
Although the science of volcano predictions is improving, it remains challenging to predict a potential 
volcanic event. Ash fall, which will be the greatest impact, will impact the entire County. Impacts will be 
felt hardest by property managers (ranches, farmers, etc.) and by those relying upon clean surface water 
(for drinking water production and irrigation).  

Wildfire 
The HMAC determined that the Fire District’s probability for wildfire is high and that their vulnerability 
to wildfire is moderate. These ratings did not change since the previous version of this NHMP. 

The Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) is hereby incorporated into this 
NHMP addendum by reference, and it will serve as the wildfire section for this addendum. The following 
presents a summary of key information; refer to the full CWPP for a complete description, and 
evaluation of the wildfire hazard. Information specific to Clackamas Fire District is found in the following 
chapter: Chapter 9.3: Clackamas Fire District, Chapter 9.6: Gladstone Fire Department, and Chapter 
9.11: Sandy Fire District. 

Volume I, Section 2 describes the characteristics of wildland fire hazards, history, as well as the location, 
extent, and probability of a potential event within the region. The location, and extent of a wildland fire 
vary depending on fuel, topography, and weather conditions. Weather, and urbanization conditions are 

Packet Pg. 57

https://www.clackamas.us/dm/ccwpp.html


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 32 

primarily at cause for the hazard level. Clackamas Fire District does not regularly experience wildfire 
within its urbanized service area, but the Fire District service area has abundant wooded areas, 
particularly in the south, southeast, and east that are a concern in the case of a wildfire event.  

Clackamas County has two major physiographic regions: the Willamette River Valley in western 
Clackamas County and the Cascade Range Mountains in eastern and southern Clackamas County. The 
Willamette River Valley, which includes the Fire District’s service area, is the most heavily populated 
portion of the county and is characterized by flat or gently hilly topography. The Cascade Range has a 
relatively small population and is characterized by heavily forested slopes. Eastern Clackamas County is 
at higher risk to wildfire than western portions of the county due to its dense forest land. Human caused 
fires are responsible for most fires in Clackamas County.  

The forested hills within and surrounding the Fire District service area are interface areas.  High and 
medium Priority Communities at Risk (CARs) within the Fire District service area include the following 
high priority areas: Forest Park/Leisure Woods, Diane Drive Shelly Road, Redland Road/Fishers Mill 
area/Logan, Clarkes/Beavercreek, Beaver Lake, Canemah Bluffs, Scouters Mountain, and Mount Talbert; 
Gladstone area high priority CARs: Parkway Woods, Billy Goat Island, Dahl Beach; Sandy area high 
priority CARs: Wildcat Mountain, Hope Lake, Cedar Creek/Sandy Rim, Firwood, Bull Run Area. Medium 
priority CARs: 3 Creeks, Holcomb; Gladstone area: Risley Wetlands.9 

Most of the Fire District service area has less severe (moderate or less) wildfire burn probability that 
includes expected flame lengths less than four-feet under normal weather conditions. However, 
conditions vary widely and with local topography, fuels, and local weather (including wind) conditions. 
Under warm, dry, windy, and drought conditions expect higher likelihood of fire starts, higher intensity, 
more ember activity, and a more difficult to control wildfire that will include more fire effects and 
impacts. 

Vulnerability Assessment 
Due to insufficient data and resources, Clackamas Fire District is currently unable to perform a 
quantitative risk assessment, or exposure analysis, for this hazard. For a list of facilities and 
infrastructure vulnerable to this hazard see the Community Assets section. 

The potential community impacts, and vulnerabilities described in Volume I, Section 2 are generally 
accurate for the Fire District service area as well. Clackamas Fire District’s fire response is addressed 
within the CWPP which assesses wildfire risk, maps wildland urban interface areas, and includes actions 
to mitigate wildfire risk. Figure CFD-7 shows overall wildfire risk in the Fire District service area. The Fire 
District will update their wildfire risk assessment if the fire plan presents better data during future 
updates (an action item is included to participate in future updates to the CWPP). For specific 
information for communities within the Fire District’s service area see Volume I, Section 2 and the 
addenda for the cities of Happy Valley, Johnson City, Milwaukie, and Oregon City. 

Property can be damaged or destroyed with one fire as structures, vegetation, and other flammables 
easily merge to become unpredictable, and hard to manage. Other factors that affect ability to 
effectively respond to a wildfire include access to the location, and to water, response time from the fire 
station, availability of personnel, and equipment, and weather (e.g., heat, low humidity, high winds, and 
drought). 

  

 

9 Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection Plan, Clackamas Fire District (2018), Table 18, 24, 33. 

Packet Pg. 58



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 33 

Future Projections 
According to the Oregon Climate Change Research Institute “Future Climate Projections, Clackamas 
County,”10 wildfire frequency, intensity, and area burned are projected to continue increasing in the 
Northwest. Wildfire risk, expressed as the average number of days per year on which fire danger is very 
high, is projected to increase in Clackamas County by 14 (range -6– 34) by the 2050s, relative to the 
historical baseline (1971–2000), under the higher emissions scenario. Similarly, the average number of 
days per year on which vapor pressure deficit is extreme is projected to increase by 29 (range 10–44) by 
the 2050s. Communities at risk to wildfire include those within the urban wildfire interface or along river 
or creek corridors, where fire can travel quickly. Communities will need to address growing wildfire risks 
if populations are not restricted from expanding further into higher risk areas. 

Figure CFD-7 Wildfire Risk 

Source: Map created by Oregon Partnership for Disaster Resilience. 
Data: Oregon statewide wildfire risk map created by Oregon State University (unpublished). Preparedness Framework 
Implementation Team (IRIS v3). 
Note: To view additional wildfire risk information click this link to access Oregon Explorer’s CWPP Planning Tool 

Mitigation Activities 
Clackamas Fire District uses several mitigation tools to reduce the service area’s risk to wildfires. 
Clackamas Fire District's offers numerous education opportunities including school programs, public 
presentations, media events, and safety fairs. They work with Clackamas County and Happy Valley, 
Johnson City, Milwaukie, and Oregon City to review pre-construction plans and develop fire codes. They 
promote the use of defensible space, fire-resistant building materials and roofing, and community 

 

10 Oregon Climate Change Research Institute, Future Climate Projections, Clackamas County, Oregon. February 2023. 

Packet Pg. 59

https://tools.oregonexplorer.info/OE_HtmlViewer/index.html?viewer=wildfireplanning


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 34 

preparedness. Additionally, the Fire District inspects buildings for fire code compliance, enforces open 
burning regulations, and offers juvenile fire setter counseling and follow-up.  

Please review the Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP), Volume I, Section 2 for 
additional information on this hazard. 

  

Packet Pg. 60

https://www.clackamas.us/dm/ccwpp.html


 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 35 

Attachment A: 
Action Item Changes 

Table MO-8 is an accounting of the status (complete or not complete) and major changes to actions 
since the previous NHMP. All actions were renumbered in this update to be consistent with other 
jurisdictions that are participating in the multi-jurisdictional NHMP. Actions identified as still relevant are 
included in the updated action plan (Table MO-1). 

Previous NHMP Actions that are Complete:  
Severe Weather #1: “Continue to ensure that all response vehicles have chains for driving on snow and 
ice.” This is considered part of normal operations.  

Previous NHMP Actions that are Not Complete and No Longer Relevant:  

None identified. 

Table CFD-5 Status of All Hazard Mitigation Actions in the Previous Plan 

2018 Action Item 
2024 
Action 
Item 

Status Still Relevant? 
(Yes/No) 

Multi-Hazard #1 #1 Not Complete Yes 

Earthquake #1 #2 Not Complete Yes 

Severe Weather #1 - Complete No 

Severe Weather #2 #3 Not Complete Yes 

Wildfire #1 #4 Not Complete Yes 

Wildfire #2 #5 Not Complete Yes 

Wildfire #3 #6 Not Complete Yes 

Wildfire #4 #7 Not Complete Yes 

Wildfire #5 #8 Not Complete Yes 

Wildfire #6 #9 Not Complete, revised Yes 

- #10 New - 

- #11 New - 
 

  

Packet Pg. 61



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 36 

Attachment B: 
Public Involvement Summary 

Members of the steering committee provided edits and updates to the NHMP prior to the public review 
period as reflected in the final document.  

To provide the public information regarding the draft NHMP addendum, and provide an opportunity for 
comment, an announcement (see below) was provided from February 1 through March 8 on the 
District’s website. The plan was also posted and announced on the County’s website. There were no 
comments provided. Additional opportunities for stakeholders and the public to be involved in the 
planning process are addressed in Volume III, Appendix B.  

A diverse array of agencies and organizations were provided an opportunity to provide input to inform 
the plan’s content through a variety of mechanisms including the opportunity for comment on the draft 
plan. The agencies and organizations represent local and regional agencies involved in hazard mitigation 
activities, those that have the authority to regulate development, neighboring communities, 
representatives of businesses, academia, and other private organizations, and representatives of 
nonprofit organizations, including community-based organizations, that work directly with and/or 
provide support to underserved communities and socially vulnerable populations. For more information 
on the engagement strategy see Volume III, Appendix B. 

Website Posting 

  

Packet Pg. 62



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 37 
Packet Pg. 63



 

Clackamas County NHMP: Clackamas Fire District Addendum P a g e  | 38 

HMAC 
The Hazard Mitigation Advisory Committee (HMAC) members possessed familiarity with the community 
and how it is affected by natural hazard events. The HMAC guided the update process through several 
steps including goal confirmation and prioritization, action item review and development, and 
information sharing, to update the NHMP and to make the NHMP as comprehensive as possible. The 
steering committee met formally on the following date: 

Meeting #1: May 30, 2023  

During this meeting, the HMAC:  

• Reviewed the previous NHMP, and were provided updates on hazard mitigation planning, the 
NHMP update process, and project timeline.  

• Updated recent history of hazard events in the district. 
• Reviewed and confirmed the County NHMP’s mission and goals. 
• Reviewed and provided feedback on the draft risk assessment update including community 

vulnerabilities and hazard information. 
• Reviewed and updated their existing mitigation strategy (actions). 
• Reviewed and updated their implementation and maintenance program. 
• Discussed the NHMP public outreach strategy. 

Meeting #2: August 1, 2023 and again on November 13, 2024 (via remote conference) 

During this meeting, the HMAC:  

• Confirmed and provided feedback on the final draft risk assessment update including 
community vulnerabilities and hazard information provided by DOGAMI (Risk Report). 

• Reviewed and confirmed the district’s capabilities assessment. 
• Reviewed, confirmed, and prioritized the district’s mitigation strategies. 

 

Packet Pg. 64



Trust • Empowerment • Accountability • Mindset • Service 

 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 24-03 
A Resolution Adopting the Clackamas Fire District Representation in the Updates to the 

Clackamas County Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan 
  
  
Whereas, the Clackamas Fire District recognizes the threat that natural hazards pose to people, property 
and infrastructure within our community; and 
  
Whereas, undertaking hazard mitigation actions will reduce the potential for harm to people, property 
and infrastructure from future hazard occurrences; and 
  
Whereas, an adopted Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan is required as a condition of future funding for 
mitigation projects under multiple FEMA pre- and post-disaster mitigation grant programs; and 
  
Whereas, the Clackamas Fire District has fully participated in the FEMA prescribed mitigation planning 
process to prepare the Clackamas County, Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan, which 
has established a comprehensive, coordinated planning process to eliminate or minimize these 
vulnerabilities; and 
  
Whereas, the Clackamas Fire District has identified natural hazard risks and prioritized a number of 
proposed actions and programs needed to mitigate the vulnerabilities of the Clackamas Fire District to the 
impacts of future disasters within the Clackamas County, Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazards Mitigation 
Plan; and  
  
Whereas, these proposed projects and programs have been incorporated into the Clackamas County, 
Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan that has been prepared and promulgated for 
consideration and implementation by the participating cities and special districts of Clackamas County; 
and 
  
Whereas, the Oregon Department of Emergency Management and Federal Emergency Management 
Agency, Region X officials have reviewed the Clackamas County, Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazards 
Mitigation Plan and pre-approved it (dated, June 11, 2024) contingent upon this official adoption of the 
participating governments and entities; 
  
Whereas, the NHMP is comprised of three volumes: Volume I -Basic Plan, Volume II – Jurisdiction 
Addenda, and Volume III – Appendices, collectively referred to herein as the NHMP; and 
  
Whereas, the NHMP is in an on-going cycle of development and revision to improve it’s effectiveness; 
and  

CLACKAMAS FIRE DISTRICT 
Here for you 

 

Packet Pg. 65



 
 
 
 

Trust • Empowerment • Accountability • Mindset • Service 

  
Whereas, the Clackamas Fire District adopts the NHMP and directs the Fire Chief to develop, approve, 
and implement the mitigation strategies and any administrative changes to the NHMP. 
  
Now, therefore, be it resolved, that the Clackamas Fire District adopts the Clackamas County Multi-
Jurisdictional Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan as an official plan; and 
  
Be it further resolved that the Clackamas Fire District will submit this Adoption Resolution to the Oregon 
Department of Emergency Management and Federal Emergency Management Agency, Region X officials 
to enable final approval of the Clackamas County Multi-Jurisdictional Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan. 
  
Adopted this 15th day of July, 2024 
 
 

 

 

_________________________________   _______________________________ 
President, Board of Directors     Secretary, Board of Directors 
 

 

Packet Pg. 66



 

 

  

Trust • Empowerment • Accountability • Mindset • Service 

CLACKAMAS FIRE DISTRICT  
Here for you 

 
Memo  

To Board of Directors 
From  Logistics Manager Denise Burkholder on behalf of Fire Chie Nick Browne 
Date July 15th, 2024 
Subject Class D - Personal Protective Equipment (Turnouts). 

 
 
 
Action Requested 
The District is requesting board approval to fund the purchase of Firefighter Class D – PPE in the amount of 
$235,000. 
 
Background 
In FY24, Clackamas Fire District’s Logistics Department came before this board to request permission to use its 
approved budget funds to procure Class D PPE for both oncoming recruits as well as replacement gear for that 
which had failed or expired. We were able to make some great headway on this task. A total of twenty-one (21) 
sets were purchased for failed and outdated gear in addition to the sets purchased for incoming recruits. The 
district will continue these efforts to see that every firefighter has gear which aligns with the NFPA standard age 
on 10 years or newer. 
 
Additionally, standard practice in gear issue has reached a pivotal point. Historically, cached loaner sets have 
been provided when back-to-back fires require both sets to be washed per policy standard or, more importantly, 
would be assigned as replacements for those whose gear failed their annual inspection. 
 
Due to our rapid growth as a fire district, we have exhausted the ability to supply one set of used gear from 
cache supply as part of the two-set complement, which each firefighter received as part of their onboarding 
process. I recommend, both out of necessity and for optimal budget planning, we move forward with purchasing 
both sets of new gear for incoming recruits. The funds we have bookmarked for the purchase of Class D gear will 
accommodate this effort. 
 
Board Policy Implications 
Per purchasing policy, Board approval is required for purchase exceeding $100,000. The turnouts will be 
purchased with through a Sourcewell contract. 
 
We’ll be moving forward in our efforts to provide current fire-safe PPE and having backup sets (cache) to offer 
when gear is needed. 
 
Budget Implications 
The current cost of our Class D – turnout pant is $1915.34/each and the current cost of our Class D – turnout 
coat is $1266.98/each. We will be able to procure 73 sets (or 146 pieces), approximately 60 of those sets will be 

Packet Pg. 67



Page 2 of 2 
 

Trust • Empowerment • Accountability • Mindset • Service 

allocated for recruit academy 24-02 and 25-01. The FY 2024-25 Adopted Budget includes $235,000 for turnout 
purchases and can accommodate this request. 
 
Clackamas Fire District will be able to better-identify the individuals whose gear must be replaced and build this 
into future budgets. 
 
Recommendation 
It is Clackamas Fire District’s recommendation that the Board of Directors approves the purchase of turnouts up 
to the amount of $235,000. 

 

Packet Pg. 68



FIRE CHIEF’S REPORT 
 

JUNE 2024 
 
 

 

Notable Events/Calls 
• 6/8/24 at 1445, E311 was dispatched to a truck vs motorcycle at the intersection of Fischers Mill 

and Ridge Rd. E311 found two critical patients, requested additional resources for the two 
trauma system entries. AMR and Life Flight were used in transporting them to the trauma center.  

• 6/9/24 a fatal MVA occurred at HWY 224 and Clapa Ln. Crews arrived to find two patients, one 
being flown to OSU and the other pronounced deceased on scene. Heavy extrication took place 
to gain access to both occupants.  

• 6/13/24 The east battalion responded to a residential fire on Veneer Lane in Sandy. The fire was 
well developed upon arrival. The incident took a full first alarm assignment with additional water 
tenders to place under control. In total 18 apparatus arrived on scene to help control the fire.  

Highlights 
• Annual open enrollment for employee 

benefits was implemented in Munis in June. 
This will save a lot of staff time and ensure 
everything is correct in all benefit platforms 
(health insurance, dental, supplemental, 
legal, etc.)  

• Ten new firefighters graduated from 
Academy 24-01. The ceremony was held at 
Camp Withycombe on June 27. 

• Eighteen offers have been extended for the 
firefighter academy 24-02. A lateral 
apparatus operator academy will be 
following. Apparatus operator interviews 
were June 20.  

• Captain David Lei has retired. He celebrated 
with an Open House at his home station 18 
on June 13. He worked in the fire service for 
25 years and began his career at Sandy Fire.  

• A task force was dispatched to the Darlene 
wildland fire in La Pine Oregon. 

• On June 26 we hosted our first joint drill 
between Hoodland Fire and Clackamas Fire 
at Station 74.   

 

High rise drill at Willamette View 

Crew on the Darlene 3 fire in La Pine Oregon 

Volunteer Drill with Hoodland Fire 

Packet Pg. 69



FIRE CHIEF’S REPORT 
 

JUNE 2024 
 

-200

-100

0

100

200

300

400

500

Net Mutual Aid
Net incident response for 12-months ending June of each year

Includes canceled en route incidents

2022 2023 2024

Packet Pg. 70



FINANCIAL REPORT
Period Ending June 30, 2024

$67.3m $71.1m

$91.5m

$0

$20m

$40m

$60m

$80m

$100m

FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24

General Fund Total Revenue
Through June

$58.8m $61.2m

$77.7m

$0

$20m

$40m

$60m

$80m

FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24

General Fund Property Tax Revenues
Through June

$58.0m $59.2m
$67.8m

$0

 $20m

 $40m

 $60m

 $80m

FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24

General Fund Salary & Benefits
Through June

96.4% of FY budget spent

$7.3m $6.8m
$8.0m

$0

$2m

$4m

$6m

$8m

$10m

FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24

General Fund Overtime
Through June

94.6% of FY budget spent

Packet Pg. 71



FINANCIAL REPORT
Period Ending June 30, 2024

$3.8m
$4.2m

$4.7m

$0

$1m

$2m

$3m

$4m

$5m

FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24

General Fund Health Claim Expenses
Through June

77.9% of FY budget spent

$0

 $10m

 $20m

 $30m

 $40m

 $50m

 $60m

 $70m

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Month-End Fund Balance, All Funds 

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

$6.6m
$7.9m

$9.5m

$0

$2m

$4m

$6m

$8m

$10m

FY 21-22 FY 22-23 FY 23-24

General Fund Materials and Services
Through June

95.1% of FY budget spent

Packet Pg. 72



Pending, Unaudited

Adopted Budget Revised Budget Actual YTD % of Budget

Beginning Fund Balance $15,800,000 $16,372,897 $16,372,897 100.0%

Revenues
Tax Revenue $77,150,182 $77,999,182 $77,664,231 99.6%
Interest $830,000 $1,025,100 $1,038,409 101.3%
EMS Revenue $2,445,136 $2,455,136 $2,030,612 82.7%
Contract Revenue $7,356,000 $7,456,000 $7,476,177 100.3%
Conflagration Revenue $0 $1,104,000 $1,107,486 100.3%
Grants $0 $102,000 $102,002 100.0%
Other Revenue $1,337,000 $2,003,000 $2,133,802 106.5%
Transfers In $70,000 $70,000 $70,027 100.0%

Total Revenues  $89,188,318 $92,214,418 $91,622,747 99.4%

Expenditures
Fire Chief's Office $1,027,450 $1,100,450 $1,038,529 94.4%
Emergency Services $58,963,105 $60,308,485 $59,216,595 98.2%
Business Services $18,382,143 $18,974,053 $17,131,688 90.3%
Debt Service $2,213,120 $2,213,120 $2,203,039 99.5%
Transfers Out $7,900,000 $8,800,000 $8,800,000 100.0%
Contingency $3,229,000 $3,229,000 $0 -

Total Expenditures  $91,714,818 $94,625,108 $88,389,850 93.4%

10 - GENERAL FUND

Clackamas Fire District #1

June 2024

Budget to Actual Report for Period Ending                                                     
June 30, 2024

Packet Pg. 73



District holdings as of 6/30/2024

Investment
Maturity   
Date

Purchase 
Price

Coupon 
Payments

Settlement 
Value

Net   
Earnings

Interest 
Rate

FHLB Bond 7/26/2024 $4,838,590 $0 $5,000,000 $161,410 5.05%
Treasury Bill 8/1/2024 $4,390,618 $0 $4,500,000 $109,382 4.93%
Treasury Note 8/31/2024 $2,944,527 $56,250 $3,000,000 $111,723 5.08%
FHLB Bond 6/13/2025 $439,510 $4,700 $470,000 $35,190 5.03%
FHLB Bond 6/12/2026 $381,933 $53,438 $375,000 $46,505 4.70%
FHLB Bond 11/17/2026 $1,790,559 $248,363 $1,790,000 $247,803 4.64%

$14,785,737 $362,750 $15,135,000 $712,013

Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP)
District Balance $9,300,746
Interest Rate 5.20%

Investment Report

Packet Pg. 74



CORRESPONDENCE 
 
 

C - 1 Social Media compilation  
 
C – 2 Thank you from citizen 
 
C – 3 Thank you from citizen 
 
 

 
 
 

Packet Pg. 75



CORRESPONDENCE 
C-1 Social Media Comments 

Thankful for crews for their response to a brush fire in Damascus, June1:  

 
Thankful for crews who rescued a dog who had fallen off a cliff in Sandy, June 5: 

 

 
  Thankful to Clackamas Fire for video series explaining the apparatus codes, June 11: 

 

 
Thankful for E322 for giving kindergartners a station tour, June 11: 

 
Thankful for the volunteers for their wildland training, June 12: 

 

 
Thankful for crews for their response to a fire in a vacant home in Oregon City, June 22: 

 
Thankful for crews for their response to a garage fire with four garages involved, June 26: 

 

 

Packet Pg. 76

Kelly.Franzen
Typewritten Text
C - 1



C - 2

Packet Pg. 77



Packet Pg. 78

Kelly.Franzen
Typewritten Text
C - 3



INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
 
 

I – 1 KATU NEWS June 4, 2024 “Clackamas Fire tackles intense barn blaze; 
uncertainty looms over animal safety” https://nbc16.com/newsletter-
daily/clackamas-fire-tackles-intense-barn-blaze-uncertainty-looms-over-animal-
safety-lorraine-drive-animals-not-accounted-for-firefighters-rural-oregon-
defensive-attack-overnight-breaking 

 
I – 2 KATU NEWS June 15, 2024 “Three-vehicle crash closes Highway 26, teenage 

driver cited for reckless driving” https://katu.com/news/local/three-vehicle-crash-
closes-highway-26-teenage-driver-cited-for-reckless-driving-362nd-avenue-
clackamas-county-oregon 

 
I – 3 THE OUTLOOK NEWS June 15, 2024 “Reckless-driving teen causes three-car 

pile-up in Sandy, closure to Highway 26 
https://www.theoutlookonline.com/news/reckless-driving-teen-causes-three-car-
pile-up-in-sandy-closure-to-highway-26/article_ed8fcc44-2b4b-11ef-8ae1-
2be37b275f90.html 

 
I – 4 KATU NEWS June 15, 2024 “Three-vehicle crash closes Highway 26, teenage 

driver cited for reckless driving” https://katu.com/news/local/three-vehicle-crash-
closes-highway-26-teenage-driver-cited-for-reckless-driving-362nd-avenue-
clackamas-county-oregon 

 
I – 5 KOIN NEWS June 15, 2024 “1 injured, citied after Sandy 3-vehicle crash briefly 

closes down Highway 26” https://www.koin.com/local/clackamas-county/1-
injured-cited-after-sandy-3-vehicle-crash-briefly-closes-down-highway-26/ 

 
I – 6 OPB NEWS June 24, 2024 “How firefighter apprenticeships are helping Oregon 

fire departments hire more diverse candidates” 
https://www.opb.org/article/2024/06/24/think-out-loud-oregon-firefighter-
apprenticeships/ 

 
 

 

Packet Pg. 79

https://nbc16.com/newsletter-daily/clackamas-fire-tackles-intense-barn-blaze-uncertainty-looms-over-animal-safety-lorraine-drive-animals-not-accounted-for-firefighters-rural-oregon-defensive-attack-overnight-breaking
https://nbc16.com/newsletter-daily/clackamas-fire-tackles-intense-barn-blaze-uncertainty-looms-over-animal-safety-lorraine-drive-animals-not-accounted-for-firefighters-rural-oregon-defensive-attack-overnight-breaking
https://nbc16.com/newsletter-daily/clackamas-fire-tackles-intense-barn-blaze-uncertainty-looms-over-animal-safety-lorraine-drive-animals-not-accounted-for-firefighters-rural-oregon-defensive-attack-overnight-breaking
https://nbc16.com/newsletter-daily/clackamas-fire-tackles-intense-barn-blaze-uncertainty-looms-over-animal-safety-lorraine-drive-animals-not-accounted-for-firefighters-rural-oregon-defensive-attack-overnight-breaking
https://katu.com/news/local/three-vehicle-crash-closes-highway-26-teenage-driver-cited-for-reckless-driving-362nd-avenue-clackamas-county-oregon
https://katu.com/news/local/three-vehicle-crash-closes-highway-26-teenage-driver-cited-for-reckless-driving-362nd-avenue-clackamas-county-oregon
https://katu.com/news/local/three-vehicle-crash-closes-highway-26-teenage-driver-cited-for-reckless-driving-362nd-avenue-clackamas-county-oregon
https://www.theoutlookonline.com/news/reckless-driving-teen-causes-three-car-pile-up-in-sandy-closure-to-highway-26/article_ed8fcc44-2b4b-11ef-8ae1-2be37b275f90.html
https://www.theoutlookonline.com/news/reckless-driving-teen-causes-three-car-pile-up-in-sandy-closure-to-highway-26/article_ed8fcc44-2b4b-11ef-8ae1-2be37b275f90.html
https://www.theoutlookonline.com/news/reckless-driving-teen-causes-three-car-pile-up-in-sandy-closure-to-highway-26/article_ed8fcc44-2b4b-11ef-8ae1-2be37b275f90.html
https://katu.com/news/local/three-vehicle-crash-closes-highway-26-teenage-driver-cited-for-reckless-driving-362nd-avenue-clackamas-county-oregon
https://katu.com/news/local/three-vehicle-crash-closes-highway-26-teenage-driver-cited-for-reckless-driving-362nd-avenue-clackamas-county-oregon
https://katu.com/news/local/three-vehicle-crash-closes-highway-26-teenage-driver-cited-for-reckless-driving-362nd-avenue-clackamas-county-oregon
https://www.koin.com/local/clackamas-county/1-injured-cited-after-sandy-3-vehicle-crash-briefly-closes-down-highway-26/
https://www.koin.com/local/clackamas-county/1-injured-cited-after-sandy-3-vehicle-crash-briefly-closes-down-highway-26/
https://www.opb.org/article/2024/06/24/think-out-loud-oregon-firefighter-apprenticeships/
https://www.opb.org/article/2024/06/24/think-out-loud-oregon-firefighter-apprenticeships/

	July 15, 2024 CFD Board Mtg
	Clackamas Fire District #1
	Board Meeting
	July 15, 2024


	CFD - Board Mtg. Agenda - 07-15-2024
	Meeting Location: Hybrid: Station 5/Remote Video Conferencing
	I. CALL TO ORDER PER ORS 192.610 TO 192.690
	II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	III. CHANGES TO AGENDA
	IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING ON JUNE 17, 2024
	V. PUBLIC COMMENT (The President will call for statements from citizens regarding District business, not to exceed three minutes per person.)
	VI. PRESENTATION – Strategic Business Plan – Assistant Chief Brian Stewart
	VII. BUSINESS – Action required
	VIII. OTHER BUSINESS – No action required
	IX. INFORMATIONAL ONLY


	CFD - Minutes - 06-17-2024 - Regular Board Meeting
	Request Board to Adopt NHMP Updates 2024 (1)
	CFD_Addendum 2024
	Clackamas Fire District Addendum to the Clackamas County Multi-Jurisdictional   Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan
	Table of Contents
	Purpose
	Mitigation Plan Mission
	Mitigation Plan Goals
	NHMP Process, Participation and Adoption
	Convener

	NHMP Implementation and Maintenance
	Implementation through Existing Programs
	Capability Assessment
	Strategic Planning
	Structural Building Codes
	Capital Improvement Planning & Budgeting
	Fire District Expansion
	The following is a timeline displaying major events (through 2022) in the history of Clackamas Fire District #10F :
	Public Awareness Campaigns
	Community Wildfire Protection Plan
	The Clackamas County Community Wildfire Protection Plan (CWPP) will be incorporated into this Plan as a functioning annex and into the District’s capital improvement planning. The CWPP is expected to be adopted in 2024.


	Mitigation Strategy
	Action Items

	Risk Assessment
	Hazard Analysis
	Community Characteristics
	Transportation/Infrastructure
	Economy

	Community Assets
	Critical Facilities
	Essential Facilities

	Hazard Characteristics
	Drought
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Mitigation Activities
	Future Projections

	Earthquake (Cascadia Subduction Zone)
	Cascadia Subduction Zone

	Earthquake (Crustal)
	Portland Hills Fault Zone
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Earthquake Regional Impact Analysis

	Mitigation Activities
	Future Projections

	Flood
	Mitigation Activities
	Future Projections

	Landslide
	Mitigation Activities
	Future Projections

	Severe Weather
	Extreme Heat
	Future Projections

	Windstorm
	Future Projections

	Winter Storm (Snow/Ice)
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Mitigation Activities
	Future Projections

	Volcanic Event
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Mitigation Activities
	Future Projections

	Wildfire
	Vulnerability Assessment
	Future Projections
	Mitigation Activities



	Attachment A: Action Item Changes
	Previous NHMP Actions that are Complete:

	Attachment B: Public Involvement Summary
	Website Posting
	HMAC


	Resolution 24-03 NHMP
	FY25.1.CFD Memo Staff Report
	Fire Chief's Report June
	2024.07 Financial Report - CFD
	FY24 Board Report Workbook.pdf
	Finance Report page 1
	Finance Report Page 2
	10-Summary

	Investement Report.pdf
	Sheet1


	00 - correspondence July packet
	1 Coversheet template
	C - 3 Thank your from citizen_Redacted
	C-1 Social Media compilation_July packet
	C-2 thank you_Redacted

	1 Informational Items Coversheet
	Strategic Plan 2023-2026  (2) (002).pdf
	Table 1




